# Type specimens of Neuropterida in the Hope Entomological Collection, Oxford University Museum of Natural History

by Catherine A. Tauber, Zoë Simmons, Agatha J. Tauber



ZooKeys 823 (Special Issue)

Type specimens of Neuropterida in the Hope Entomological Collection, Oxford University Museum of Natural History

by Catherine A. Tauber, Zoë Simmons, Agatha J. Tauber

First published 2019 ISBN 978-954-642-951-3 (paperback)

Pensoft Publishers 12 Prof. Georgi Zlatarski Street, 1700 Sofia, Bulgaria Fax: +359-2-870-42-82 info@pensoft.net www.pensoft.net

Printed in Bulgaria, February 2019

CATALOGUE



# Type specimens of Neuropterida in the Hope Entomological Collection, Oxford University Museum of Natural History

Catherine A. Tauber<sup>1,2</sup>, Zoë Simmons<sup>3</sup>, Agatha J. Tauber<sup>2</sup>

I Department of Entomology, Comstock Hall, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, 14853, USA 2 Department of Entomology and Nematology, University of California, Davis, CA, 95616, USA 3 Hope Entomological Collection, Oxford University Museum of Natural History, Oxford, OX1 3PW, UK

Corresponding author: Catherine A. Tauber (cat6@cornell.edu)

Academic editor: B. Price	Received 3 October 2018   Accepted 24 December 2018   Published 11 February 2019
	http://zoobank.org/B0F4088D-64AF-4855-8AFD-CD2F28EDC7B9

**Citation:** Tauber CA, Simmons Z, Tauber AJ (2019) Type specimens of Neuropterida in the Hope Entomological Collection, Oxford University Museum of Natural History. ZooKeys 823: 1–126. https://doi.org/10.3897/zooKeys.823.30231

#### Abstract

The Hope Entomological Collection in the Oxford University Museum of Natural History holds a large and diverse array of historically valuable type specimens for species in the superorder Neuropterida (Megaloptera, Neuroptera, and Raphidioptera). Most are from the mid-1800s (1823–1874). Here, we report each type found during a rigorous search of the collection, and we confirm the identity and status of each type with bibliographic, specimen, and label data. Images, current nomenclatural information, and references for name changes are provided for each species.

We identified primary or secondary types for 76 species in seven families of Neuroptera, primary and secondary types for one species of Raphidoptera (Raphidiidae), and secondary types for three species of Megaloptera (Corydalidae). Among the Neuroptera, we found primary types for 26 species of Mantispidae, 16 species of Myrmeleontidae, 11 species of Ascalaphidae, seven species of Nemopteridae, five species of Chrysopidae, and one species each of Coniopterygidae and Hemerobiidae. Types for only two species that were reported to be in the collection were not found.

To help stabilize the nomenclature, we made new lectotype designations for the following six species in the Hope Collection: *Colobopterus dissimilis* McLachlan, 1871; *Mantispa batesella* Westwood, 1867; *Mantispa myrapetrella* Westwood, 1867; *Mantispa tropica* Westwood, 1852; *Myrmeleon anomalus* Rambur, 1842; and *Myrmeleon singulare* Westwood, 1847. We also made new lectotype designations for two species in the Natural History Museum in London: *Mantispa indica* Westwood, 1852, and *Mantispa* 

Copyright Catherine A. Tauber et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY 4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

*quadrituberculata* Westwood, 1852. In several other cases, holotype determinations in the literature were recognized as lectotype designations. Finally, to correct an important error in the literature, we reinstated the synonymization of *Ascalaphus anticus* Walker, 1853, *A. loquax* Walker, 1853, and *A. trux* Walker, 1853 under *A. longus* Walker, 1853.

#### **Keywords**

Neuroptera, Megaloptera, Raphidioptera, type specimens, nomenclature, systematics, lectotype designations, synonymy

# **Table of contents**

Introduction	2
Materials and methods	3
Format	
Type designations	6
List of type depositories (abbreviations)	7
Type specimens of Neuropterida in the Hope Entomological Collection	7
Megaloptera	7
Corydalidae (Dobsonflies, fishflies)	8
Neuroptera	
Ascalaphidae (Owlflies)	
Chrysopidae (Green lacewings)	35
Coniopterygidae (Dusty wings)	41
Hemerobiidae (Brown lacewings)	42
Mantispidae (Mantidflies)	44
Myrmeleontidae (Antlions, doodlebugs)	82
Nemopteridae (Spoon-winged or thread-winged lacewings)	105
Raphidioptera	114
Raphidiidae (Snakeflies)	114
Acknowledgements	116
References	117
Appendix	125

# Introduction

The Hope Entomological Collection at the Oxford University Museum of Natural History (OUMNH), Oxford, United Kingdom, houses one of the oldest and most historically significant collections of insects in the world. Among the natural history museums in Britain, it is second in size and age only to the national collection of insects at the Natural History Museum in London [NHMUK; formerly the British Museum (Natural History)]. Established through deed of gift in 1860 by Frederick William

Hope and curated by John Obadiah Westwood, the Hope Entomological Collection grew rapidly through donation and purchase of materials from various entomologists and collectors, including A. R. Wallace, J. J. Walker, S. A. Neave, and H. W. Bates. Later, entomologists such as J. P. Rambur, L. Navás, and R. McLachlan added specimens and/or worked on the material. As a result, its holdings constitute a rich source of taxonomic history, as well as old and new biological information.

Among the Hope Collection's holdings are a significant number of type specimens in the superorder Neuropterida, a group of insects that includes the Megaloptera (alderflies, dobsonflies, and fishflies), Neuroptera, *sensu stricto*, (lacewings, antlions, etc.), and Raphidioptera (snakeflies). These specimens include primary types (holotypes, lectotypes, syntypes) from a diverse array of neuropteridan families. In addition to their value as name-bearing representatives of described species, many of these types are of special interest now because of their age (dating from 1823–1939) or association with historical expeditions, or because recent systematic publications have either overlooked or regarded them as lost.

Given the crucial importance of type specimens to the practice of systematics, Recommendation 72F.4 of the International Code of Zoological Nomenclature (ICZN) encourages institutions (collections and museums) to publish lists of the name-bearing (primary) types in their care. Thus, in accordance with the ICZN recommendation, here we provide an annotated and illustrated catalog of the primary and secondary types of Neuropterida that are housed in the Hope Entomological Collection. For each purported type, we provide images of the specimen and its labels, information on its condition and status (holotype, lectotype, syntype, paratype, nontype, etc.), its current name, and a brief taxonomic history of the name.

# Materials and methods

#### Format

We made reasonably extensive searches of both the literature and the Hope collection. Our report includes all of the species that we found to have a type in the collection, or for which the literature reports the collection as housing a type or a possible type (Table 1). We are confident that this list includes most, if not all, of the type specimens that were reported to be in the collection or that currently reside there.

For each neuropteridan order, the families and the species within each family are presented in alphabetical order, and, for convenience, we used the traditional classification of neuropteridan taxa. It is worthy of note that recent work has questioned important aspects of the traditional classification, for example, the monophyly of Myrmeleontidae, as well as the monophyly and family status of Ascalaphidae. For recent phylogenetic information, readers are referred to the following selected references (Engel et al. 2018, Winterton et al. 2018; also Badano et al. 2016).

Name	Author	Year	Category (Number of specimens)
Megaloptera			
Corydalidae			
1. armata (Corydalis)	Hagen	1861	Paralectotype (1)
2. infectus (Nevromus)	McLachlan	1869	Paralectotype (2)
3. subfasciatus (Chauliodes)	Westwood	1847	Paralectotype (1)
Neuroptera			
Ascalaphidae			
1. <i>abdominalis</i> (Suphalasca)	McLachlan	1871	Syntype (1)
2. angulatus [Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster)]	Westwood	1847	Syntype (2)
3. aurifera (Ulula)	McLachlan	1871	Paralectotype (2)
4. delicatulus (Colobopterus)	McLachlan	1871	Paralectotype (1)
5. <b>dentifer</b> [Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster)]	Westwood	1847	Syntype (1)
6. dissimilis (Colobopterus)	McLachlan	1871	Lectotype (New designation), Paralectotype (1)
7. <b>leucostigma</b> (Ascalaphus)	Walker	1860	Syntype (1)
8. <b>longus</b> (Ascalaphus)	Walker	1853	Historical specimen (3)
9. <b>macleayanus</b> (Ascalaphus)	Guilding	1823	Syntype (2 adults, 1 larva)
10. mexicana (Ulula)	McLachlan	1871	Syntype (1)
11. <b>obscurus</b> [Ascalaphus (Haploglenius)]	Westwood	1847	Syntype (1)
12. segmentator [Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster)]	Westwood	1847	Syntype (3)
13. terminalis (Haploglenius)	McLachlan	1871	Syntype (1)
14. <b>tessellatus</b> [Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster)]	Westwood	1847	Syntype (3)
Chrysopidae			
1. brevicollis (Hemerobius)	Rambur	1842	Lectotype
2. conformis (Hemerobius)	Rambur	1842	Lectotype
3. mauricianus (Hemerobius)	Rambur	1842	Holotype
4. <b>neavei</b> (Ancyclopteryx)	Navás	1913	Lectotype
5. <b>proximus</b> (Hemerobius)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (1)
Coniopterygidae			
1. detrita (Coniopteryx)	McLachlan	1867	Holotype
Hemerobiidae			
1. <i>fassnidgei</i> (Boriomyia)	Killington	1933	Holotype
Mantispidae			
1. areolaris (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Syntype (1)
2. <b>basella</b> [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Holotype
3. <b>batesella</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1867	Lectotype (New designation), Paralectotype (3)
4. <b>bella</b> [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Holotype
5. <b>biseriata</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Lectotype
6. chilensis (Mantispa)	Hagen	1859	Syntype (1)
7. cognatella (Mantispa)	Westwood	1867	Lectotype
8. <b>crucifera</b> (Mantispa)	Navás	1914	Lectotype, Paralectotype (3)
9. <b>delicatula</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Lectotype, Paralectotype (1)
10. eurydella [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Holotype
11. <b>fasciatella</b> [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Holotype
12. <b>fumosella</b> [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Holotype
13. gracilis (Mantispa)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (1)
14. <i>haematina</i> (Mantispilla)	Navás	1914	Holotype

**Table 1.** Neuropteridan type specimens reported to be in the Hope Entomological Collection, Oxford University Museum of Natural History. Names appear as in the original descriptions.

Name	Author	Year	Category (Number of specimens)
15. hagenella (Mantispa)	Westwood	1867	Holotype
16. <i>hamiltonella</i> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1867	Syntype
17. <b>indica</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Paralectotype (2)
18. <b>iridella</b> [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Paralectotype (1)
19. <b>mozambica</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Holotype
20. myrapetrella (Mantispa)	Westwood	1867	Lectotype (New designation), Paralectotype (7)
21. natalensis (Necyla)	Navás	1914	Holotype/Syntype
22. <b>nodosa</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1847	Holotype
23. partheniella [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Lectotype, Paralectotype (1)
24. quadrituberculata (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Paralectotype (1)
25. rubellus (Campion)	Navás	1914	Lectotype, Paralectotype (3)
26. <b>sacra</b> (Necyla)	Navás	1914	Holotype
27. <b>sequella</b> [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)]	Westwood	1867	Holotype
28. <b>simulatrix</b> (Mantispa)	McLachlan	1900	Holotype
29. <b>tropica</b> (Mantispa)	Westwood	1852	Lectotype (New designation), Paralectotype (1)
Myrmeleontidae			
1. <i>acuta</i> (Acanthaclisis)	Kimmins	1939	Holotype, Paratype (1)
2. anomalus (Myrmeleon)	Rambur	1842	Lectotype (New designation)
3. atomarius (Myrmeleon)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (2)
4. distincta (Acanthaclisis)	Rambur	1842	Paralectotype (3)
5. <b>excelsus</b> (Palparellus)	Navás	1913	Holotype
6. <i>interjectus</i> (Formicaleo)	Navás	1913	Holotype
7. <b>isopterus</b> (Gymnoleon)	Navás	1913	Holotype (not found)
8. loanguana (Creagris)	Navás	1913	Syntype (1)
9. mozambicus (Nelees)	Navás	1913	Syntype (1)
10. neavinus (Formicaleo)	Navás	1913	Lectotype
11. notatus (Myrmeleon)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (2)
12. nycterinus (Palparidius)	Navás	1913	Holotype
13. obscurus (Myrmeleon)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (2)
14. <b>pardus</b> (Palpares)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (1)
15. <b>poultoni</b> (Cymothales)	Navás	1913	Holotype (not found)
16. <b>pulchellus</b> (Myrmeleon)	Rambur	1842	Holotype
17. <b>pulchellus</b> (Palpares)	Esben-Petersen	1922	Paralectotype (1)
18. <b>punctulatus</b> (Myrmeleon)	Rambur	1842	Syntype (1)
19. rhodesicus (Gymnoleon)	Navás	1913	Holotype
20. singulare (Myrmeleon)	Westwood	1847	Lectotype (New designation)
21. <b>tessellatus</b> (Palpares)	Rambur	1842	Paralectotype (1)
22. <b>tillyardi</b> (Acanthaclisis)	Kimmins	1939	Paratype (1)
Nemopteridae			
1. albostigma (Nemoptera)	Westwood	1874	Holotype
2. angulata (Nemoptera)	Westwood	1836	Holotype
3. costalis (Nemoptera)	Westwood	1836	Holotype
4. <b>filipennis</b> (Nematoptera)	Westwood	1841	Syntype (1)
5. <b>hebraica</b> (Nemoptera)	Westwood	1874	Syntype (1)
6. <i>lawi</i> (Croce)	Navás	1913	Lectotype
7. storeyi (Pterocroce)	Withycombe	1923	Syntype (2)
Raphidioptera			
Raphidiidae			
1. <b>bagnalli</b> (Agulla)	Navás	1914	Lectotype, Paralectotype (1)

In our text, the format for each species entry is as follows:

- **First line:** Species name; author; year of description; original genus name as published (in parentheses); and number of specimens, current type status, and figure number(s) of any types in the collection (in parentheses).
- **Section 1** Original description: Citation for the published description, followed by the exact locality and depository data quoted from the original description.
- Section 2 Type series: Published data on the number of specimens mentioned or estimated from the literature, notation of published type status, and any other pertinent published information. Then follow details on the type(s) actually found in the collection, their Hope Entomological Collection number(s), pertinent label data, and sex(es) if known, and our interpretation of the current type status (holo-type, syntype, etc.), as well as reference to our images of the specimen(s) and accompanying labels. Any other relevant information on the type(s) in the collection or elsewhere (especially the NHMUK) is presented in this section.
- Section 3 Current name: Presently accepted name of the species.
- **Section 4** Nomenclature: References and information leading to the current acceptance of the name: nomenclatural changes, synonymies, generic reassignments, and spelling issues.
- **Note:** (i) We included any explanatory information, translations, or unreferenced comments by the current authors within brackets. (ii) The scale markers on the images apply to the specimens, not necessarily to the associated labels.

To gather or confirm information on selected species with types in both the OUM-NH and the NHMUK, we (ZS) made brief visits to the NHMUK. In preparation for these trips, we used the Natural History Museum Data Portal (data.nhm.ac.uk), and the Natural History Museum (2014) Dataset: Index Lot collection, http://dx.doi. org/10.5519/0073880, retrieved: 09 Jan 2018, made available by Ben Price, Senior Curator in Charge of Small Orders. Our coverage of the NHMUK types that overlap with those in the OUMNH was targeted, not exhaustive.

#### Type designations

Because the neuropteridan types housed in the Hope Collection are mostly quite old (from the 1800s), the original descriptions are sparse. They seldom indicate the number of specimens that were included in the type series or if a primary type was selected. In some cases, there probably was only one type, but during our studies we learned that it was not prudent to make such an assumption. Not infrequently, we found that type series had been divided, and individual types traded and/or transferred among collections. Therefore, in the absence of specific information from the original description or a published record that indicates a single type, and in accordance with ICZN Recommendation 73F, we assumed that more than one syntype was used. In cases where a previous author had recognized a holotype in the absence of specific evidence of monotypy, and where additional types or probable types had been identified and considered, we noted, in accordance with ICZN Rules 74.5 or 74.6, that the author's identification of a holotype could be considered as designation of the specimen as the lectotype. In cases where a holotype identification had been referred to in subsequent publication(s), and where no additional types were indicated or had been found, we noted that the holotype had been determined without evidence of monotypy.

We also were aware that the reverse situation might be possible, i.e., that type labels could have been added to nontype specimens either by the original author at a subsequent date or by subsequent authors. We made an effort to compare handwriting and to corroborate the authenticity of each type.

In most cases where several syntypes are known to exist (either in the OUMNH collection or elsewhere), we did not designate lectotypes; we merely indicated the number of syntypes found and their location(s). We trust that the information provided here will aid future systematists in taking the necessary steps to stabilize the type status. In those few instances where we felt that a prompt lectotype designation would be useful for maintaining nomenclatural stability, we made a designation.

#### List of type depositories (abbreviations)

IRSNB	Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, Brussels, Belgium (for-
	merly, ISNB or IRSN) [contains the collection of de Sélys Longchamps
	- "de Sélys collection" here]
MCZ	Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mas-
	sachusetts, USA
MNHN	Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle à Paris, France
NHMUK	Natural History Museum, London, United Kingdom [formerly, the Brit-
	ish Museum (Natural History), BMNH]
NHRS	Naturhistoriska riksmuseet, Stockholm, Sweden
OUMNH	Oxford University Museum of Natural History, Oxford, United King-
	dom [historically referred to as the Hope Entomological Collection]

# Type specimens of Neuropterida in the Hope Entomological Collection

# Megaloptera

The Megaloptera, one of three orders in the Neuropterida, is a small group that contains only two families: Corydalidae and Sialidae. The larvae are aquatic predators that inhabit streams and other bodies of water, whereas the adults are terrestrial and may feed on pollen, soft or fermenting plant material, or not at all (Villagomez and Contreras-Ramos 2017). We found secondary types (paratype, paralectotype) of three megalopteran species in the Hope Collection; all are in the family Corydalidae.

### Corydalidae (Dobsonflies, fishflies)

1. armata Hagen, 1861 (Corydalis) (Paralectotype; Fig. 1)

**Original description.** *Smith. Misc. Coll., 4 (1): 321*; "HAB. Columbia, Venezuela."; no actual description, but with an indication, i.e., bibliographic reference, to descriptions of *Hemerobius cornutus* L. by Rambur (1842: 440) and Walker (1853: 208). Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** There is one specimen in the OUMNH labeled as "*Corydalis cornuta* L.", probably in Rambur's handwriting; it also bears a printed "TYPE" label that refers to Rambur's (1842: 440) redescription of the Linnaean species *Hemerobius cornutus* Linnaeus, 1758. This specimen is not a type of *H. cornutus* L., 1758. The *H. cornutus* holotype, which was from North America, was reported from the Charles De Geer collection of the NHRS (Tjeder 1952), and there is no reason to believe that Linnaeus had seen the OUMNH specimen. However, two subsequent, independent studies redescribed *Corydalus cornutus* (L.) from Colombia and Venezuela, not from North America, as was the original description by Linnaeus (Colombia: Rambur 1842: 440; Venezuela: Walker 1853: 208; both as *Corydalis cornuta*). Rambur's label on the specimen and the reference to the Marchel Collection on another label are indicators that this specimen in the OUMNH (NEUR0080, Fig. 1) is one that Rambur used in his redescription.

Corydalus cornutus (L.), originally described from Pennsylvania, USA, is widespread and relatively common throughout southeastern Canada and eastern and central USA. Its distribution was later shown to extend into southwestern USA, but it has not been recorded from Mexico, Central America, or South America (Contreras-Ramos 1998: 82). As a result, Rambur's and Walker's redescriptions based on their South American specimens now are considered applicable to a separate species, Corydalus armatus (Hagen, 1861) (van der Weele 1910: 17, Contreras-Ramos 1998: 48, 82–84). Indeed, the specimens they used to prepare their redescriptions constitute the type series for this South American species, because in lieu of a description, Hagen (1861: 321) referred to Rambur's and Walker's earlier redescriptions of the Colombian and Venezuelan specimens that they had identified as C. cornuta. According to ICZN Article 72.4, the type specimens mentioned in Rambur's and Walker's publications thus serve as types for Hagen's South American Corydalis armata [= Corydalus armatus] (Contreras-Ramos 1998: 48). Contreras-Ramos (1998: 51) designated a male from the de Sélys collection (IRSNB) as the *C. armatus* lectotype, and he identified paralectotypes from a number of collections, but not the OUMNH.

Here, the OUMNH specimen, a male (Fig. 1, NEUR0080), is recognized as a paralectotype of *Corydalis armata* Hagen. However, it should be noted that there is at least one other *Corydalus* species from northern South America, so the actual species identity of this specimen has not been confirmed.

Current name. Corydalus armatus (Hagen, 1861).

**Nomenclature.** Linnaeus (1758: 551) originally included the North American species (*cornutus*) within his broadly defined genus *Hemerobius*. The genus name "Genre.



Figure 1. OUMNH paralectotype of *Corydalus armatus* Hagen, 1861 (NEUR0080, male). Earlier, erroneously identified as *Hemerobius cornutus* Linnaeus, 1758.

Corydale; corydalus" [masculine] first appeared in Latreille (1802: 290), with Hemerobius cornutus F. (sic) listed as the type species. A short time later, Latreille (1805: 44) referred to the genus as "Corydale; corydalis" [feminine], with "la raphidie cornue de Linnaeus" and "l'hémerobe cornu de Fabricius et de De Géer" as examples. ICZN Article 33.2 (Emendations) does not apply to this change, and thus the name is considered to be an incorrect subsequent spelling and unavailable. Latreille (1807: 199) again used the name Corydalis; however, with this usage he provided a list of synonyms under the name Corydalis cornuta, including some in combination with the original genus name (Corydalus). A second author, Rambur (1842: 440-441), also used the name Corydalis; his usage was in association with references to several published articles pertaining to species under the original name. Both authors attributed the name Corydalis to Latreille. These uses of the name are deemed unjustified emendations, and they render Corydalis Latreille, 1804 an available name and junior synonym of Corydalus Latreille, 1802 (see ICZN Article 33.2). Subsequently, the name Corydalis was commonly used (e.g., Walker 1853: 208, others listed by Contreras-Ramos 1998). However, it was not in exclusive use (e.g., van der Weele 1910: 9), and today the original generic appellation Corydalus Latrielle, 1802 is regarded as the valid name. For a list of generic synonymies and references to species combined with both generic names, see Contreras-Ramos (1998: 29) and references therein.

Hagen (1861: 321) first reported the species name as "armata"; he listed it under the feminine genus name "*Corydalis* Latreille". He immediately followed that listing with the name "*Corydalis armatus* Hagen". It appears that the masculine spelling "*ar*- *matus*" was a *lapsus calami* by Hagen or a printer's error, because all of the other species that Hagen listed in this publication under the genus name *Corydalis* have feminine endings. The validity and history of the combination *Corydalus armatus* Hagen were examined and confirmed by Contreras-Ramos (1998: 29).

**2.** *infectus* **McLachlan**, **1869** (*Nevromus*, as *Neuromus*, see below) (Two paralectotypes; Figs 2, 3)

**Original description.** Ann. Mag. Nat. Hist., 4: 41; "... ( $\mathcal{O} \ \mathcal{Q}$ ).... Darjeeling. In coll. Mus. Brit., Oxon., et auct.". Number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Although McLachlan's description did not state how many specimens he had in the type series, clearly there were more than two and at least one of each sex. He did not specify a primary type. We have seen specimens in the NHMUK, and two specimens are in the OUMNH. Each of the OUMNH specimens bears a locality label reading "Darjeeling" and "1865" (NEUR0041-01, male, Fig. 2; NEUR0041-02, probably a female but labeled as a male, Fig. 3).

Quite a few years after the description was published, van der Weele (1910: 37) made the following ambiguous statement: "Mac Lachlan's *infectus* is a very mature  $3^{\circ}$  of this species from Darjeeling, the type is also in the British Museum". This statement neither restricted the type series to the specimens in the NHMUK, nor did it identify a specific specimen as the primary type. Thus all of the available types retained namebearing (syntype) status. Subsequently, Kimmins (1948: 780) reported three type specimens in the NHMUK, all females; he identified one (the only one of the three females bearing a type label) as the holotype, the other two types in the NHMUK as paratypes, and the two specimens in the OUMNH as an allotype ( $3^{\circ}$ ) and a paratype ( $\mathfrak{P}$ ). Because Kimmins expressly chose the holotype from among the available syntypes, his action constituted a valid lectotype designation (ICZN Article 74.5; also see Oswald 2018). The two types in the OUMNH are paralectotypes.

Note: In an article over 20 years later, Kimmins (1970: 355), without reference to his own earlier article, accepted that van der Weele's (1910: 37) statements established the lectotype. However, for the reasons above, and unless a large male specimen from Darjeeling were found in the NHMUK to contradict Kimmins' (1948: 780) sex determinations, we disagree and conclude that Kimmins' earlier holotype identification served as the valid lectotype designation.

Current name. Protohermes infectus (McLachlan, 1869).

**Nomenclature.** The original generic name *Neuromus* is recognized as an unjustified emendation of *Neuromus*, probably used for the first time by Hagen (1861: 194). The species was synonymized with *Protohermes anticus* (Walker) by van der Weele (1907: 244, as *Neuromus*), but later reinstated as a valid species within *Protohermes* by Kimmins (1948: 778); also see Liu and Yang (2006: 51).



**Figure 2.** First of two OUMNH paralectotypes for *Nevromus infectus* McLachlan, 1869 (NEUR0041-01, male).



**Figure 3.** Second of two OUMNH paralectotypes for *Nevromus infectus* McLachlan, 1869 (NEUR0041-02, female).

#### 3. subfasciatus Westwood, 1847 (Chauliodes) (One paralectotype; Fig. 4)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 70, fig. 5. "Inhabits Sylhet. In the Collection of W. W. Saunders, Esq.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Walker (1853: 200) reported two types of this species in the NHMUK; he did not specify the condition or sexes of these types. Later, van der Weele (1910: 65–66) stated that he examined two male types with "abdomen … broken off" in the NHMUK and a female type in the de Sélys collection. Kimmins (1970: 358) designated one of the NHMUK specimens as the lectotype and the other as a paralectotype (he also noted the absence of their abdomens). For additional information, see Liu et al. (2010: 44).

Because the OUMNH holds types of other species from the W. W. Saunders collection that were described by Westwood (1848) from the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology, we expected to find a type of this species in the collection as well. Indeed, we found one (NEUR0072, Fig. 4), a female, now identified as a paralectotype; it bears a "Silhet" locality label and previously was housed in the OUMNH collection with *Chauliodes maculipennis* (Gray).

# Current name. Neochauliodes subfasciatus (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** An article by van der Weele (1909: 259) described the genus *Neo-chauliodes*, but it did not list *C. subfasciatus* as an included species. However, shortly thereafter, another article by the same author (van der Weele 1910: 65) appeared with the species listed as *Neochauliodes subfasciatus* (Westwood), without comment. We presume that this was the first use of the combination.



Figure 4. OUMNH paralectotype of Chauliodes subfasciatus Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0072, female).

Neuroptera, with its approximately 16 described families, is by far the largest and most diverse of the neuropteroid orders (Withycombe 1924, Henry 1982, Tauber et al. 2002, Engel et al. 2018). For the most part, the larvae are predaceous; in some families adults also may be predaceous, but, more commonly, they feed on honeydew and pollen. The taxa within the order express a broad range of diversity in many respects, including their lifestyles (arboreal, subterranean, aquatic, semiaquatic); defense strategies (larval trash carrying, chemical repellents, mimicry); reproductive biology (secondary sexual characteristics, courtship songs and movements, chemical attractants); seasonality (diapausing stage, voltinism, ecophysiological responses); and larval food relations (predation or semiparasitoidism, prey preferences, searching and feeding behavior).

The OUMNH contains types from seven of the ~16 neuropteran families. Types of only two species that were reported to be in the OUMNH were not found; both were antlions (Myrmeleontidae) described by L. Navás in 1913.

#### Ascalaphidae (Owlflies)

About 450 species of owlflies are known from the warm regions of the world. They are very closely related to the antlions (family Myrmeleontidae), but differ noticably in the length and structure of their adult antennae, larval head morphology, and flight pattern (some species).

The OUMNH houses type specimens of thirteen ascalaphid species, eleven with primary types (holotype, lectotype, or syntype). It also holds secondary types (paralectotypes) of two species, and historical specimens of an additional species (also see the Appendix). All of the species with OUMNH types were described by Westwood, McLachlan, Guilding, and Walker, between 1823 and 1871. They include seven species from the Old World: the East Indies, Gabon (Gaboon), and six from the New World: Brazil, Mexico, and the Caribbean. Five of the New World types were collected by H. W. Bates during his expedition in Brazil's Amazon region (1848–1859). All five of the specimens carry labels with the year "1861", probably the year that they were transferred to the OUMNH.

It is noteworthy that ten of the eleven primary types of Ascalaphidae in the OUM-NH are syntypes; only one is a lectotype, and none are holotypes. The cause of this skewed distribution is not readily apparent.

1. *abdominalis* McLachlan, 1871 (*Suphalasca*, a subsequent spelling of *Suhpalacsa*) (One syntype; Fig. 5)

**Original description.** *J. Linn. Soc. Lond., Zoology, 1873a* [1871], 11: 258; "*Hab.* Gaboon. One  $\Diamond$  in my collection. A second example in the Oxford Museum, perhaps a  $\bigcirc$ , ...".

**Type series.** McLachlan mentioned two specimens: one in his own collection (a male) and another (perhaps a female) in the OUMNH. Although it appears



Figure 5. OUMNH syntype of Suhpalacsa abdominalis McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0046, female).

that the description largely refers to the male, McLachlan did not specify a primary type.

A single type specimen, labeled as a female (unconfirmed), is in the OUMNH (NEUR0046, Fig. 5). The NHMUK houses a specimen from Gabon that is labeled as a type (BM1938674); we did not examine it closely. No lectotype has been designated, so these specimens both remain as syntypes.

Current name. Suhpalacsa abdominalis McLachlan, 1871.

**Nomenclature.** First, the original spelling of the genus that Lefebvre (1842: 7) described, and to which *S. abdominalis* was assigned, is *Suhpalacsa*, which is "*Ascalaphus*" spelled backwards. McLachlan (1873a [1871]: 253), as well as Navás (1912a: 84, 86–88), used other spellings, *Suphalasca* and *Suphalacsa* respectively. The type label on the OUMNH specimen also carries the spelling *Suphalasca*. McLachlan's subsequent spelling is not demonstrably intentional; thus, it is not viewed as an emendation. However, Navás consistently adopted his subsequent spelling in favor of others that he listed. But notably, he did not cite the original spelling, and therefore his spelling appears to be an unjustified emendation. Moreover, it has not been in prevailing usage; for example, Tjeder (1992: 165) and Ghosh (2000: 102) used the correct original spelling. Therefore, ICZN Article 33.2.3.1 does not apply; Navás' emendation is unjustified; and *Suphalacsa abdominalis* McLachlan remains as an available junior synonym of the original name.

Second, in the original description, McLachlan (1873a [1871]: 258) was uncertain about the placement of this and other African species in *Suhpalacsa* (as *Suphalasca*). He used the genus name for his new species, and listed it with a "(?)". Later, Tjeder (1992: 164–165) also questioned the generic assignment of the species. He proposed that it

should be the type species of a separate genus. Unfortunately, Tjeder's health failed before he could describe the new genus, but his opinion was made clear by the colleagues/ editors who helped shepherd his final manuscript through publication.

# 2. angulatus Westwood, 1847 [Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster)] (Two syntypes; Figs 6, 7)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 69; "Inhabits Assam. Major Jenkins.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Walker (1853: 421) reported a Westwood type from Assam in the NHMUK, and two Westwood types (both from Assam, sexes undetermined) are in the OUMNH (NEUR0050-01, -02; Figs 6, 7). No lectotype has been designated; we consider all three specimens (including the two in the OUMNH) to be syntypes.

Current name. Ascalohybris angulata (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** Hagen (1866: 381) referred to the species as *Ogcogaster angulatus* Westwood. Later, McLachlan (1873a: 267) transferred the species to the genus *Hybris* Lefebvre; this generic assignment was used by van der Weele (1908: 236). Subsequently, Oswald and Penny (1991: 30) recognized *Hybris* Lefebvre as a junior homonym, which Sziráki (1998: 59) replaced with the generic name *Ascalohybris* Sziráki. Sziráki (1998: 59) also was the first to use the combination *Ascalohybris angulata* (Westwood). Ghosh (2000: 108) probably did not see Sziráki's paper and continued to use the homonym.



Figure 6. First of two OUMNH syntypes for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) angulatus* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0050-01, sex undetermined).



Figure 7. Second of two OUMNH syntypes for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) angulatus* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0050-02, sex undetermined).

## 3. aurifera McLachlan, 1871 (Ulula) (Two paralectotypes; Figs 8, 9)

**Original description.** J. Linn. Soc. Lond., Zoology, 1873a [1871] 11: 249; "Santarem (Bates). In the British and Oxford Museums.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** McLachlan mentioned two depositories, and we conclude that there were at least two syntypes. However, he did not identify a primary type. Both van der Weele (1908: 120) and Penny (1981b: 648) stated that they saw a type in the NHMUK; Penny referred to it as a "holotype female". Thus, in accordance with ICZN Rule 74.5, the reference by Penny (1981b: 648) to the NHMUK specimen as the holotype serves to fix it as the lectotype. This type, with a McLachlan label (sex unconfirmed by us), carries an NHMUK identification label (NHMUK010212092).

In addition to the specimen above, we found three specimens, sexes undetermined, in the OUMNH standing over this name. Two of them bear labels showing the type locality and McLachlan's identification; they clearly are paralectotypes (NEUR0077-01, -02; Figs 8, 9). The third does not appear to be a type.

Current name. Ululodes vetulus (Rambur, 1842).



Figure 8. First of two OUMNH paralectotypes for *Ulula aurifera* McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0077-01, sex undetermined).



**Figure 9.** Second of two OUMNH paralectotypes for *Ulula aurifera* McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0077-02, sex undetermined).

**Nomenclature.** Both van der Weele (1908: 119) and Penny (1981b: 648) listed *Ulula aurifera* McLachlan as a synonym of *Ululodes vetula* (Rambur). In accordance with ICZN Article 30.1.4.4, the suffix "-odes" is treated as masculine; thus, the species name is the masculine "*vetulus*".

#### 4. delicatulus McLachlan, 1871 (Colobopterus) (One paralectotype; Fig. 10)

**Original description.** J. Linn. Soc. Lond., Zoology, 1873a [1871], 11: 250; "Hab. Santarem (*Bates*).". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Although McLachlan (1873a: 250) neither identified a primary type nor mentioned the sexes or number of specimens he studied, he did note that *Colobopterus integer* McLachlan actually might represent the female of *C. delicatulus*. [See his paragraph on page 251, immediately after the *C. delicatulus* description]. With this statement, he implied that at the time he wrote the *C. delicatulus* description, he may not have identified a female specimen of this species with certainty, in which case the description most likely was based on a male (or males). The first subsequent author to report on the topic, van der Weele (1908: 132), was aware that McLachlan believed he had studied a male. However, he stated, probably in error: "The type is a female, not a male, as Mac Lachlan said, from Santarem (Bates). I examined the type in the British Museum." [translation from Oswald 2018]. Later, Esben-Petersen (1927: 345) also



Figure 10. OUMNH paralectotype of Colobopterus delicatulus McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0044, male).

mentioned a female specimen, but he did not refer to a type. Finally, Penny (1981b: 630) referred to the specimen in the NHMUK as the "Holotype female" (also see Oswald 2018). This female type is in the NHMUK (NHMUK010212094). It carries a locality label reading "Santarem" that is in Bates' handwriting and a label stating "Type".

Here, we report that the OUMNH also holds a *C. delicatulus* type (a male, NEUR0044, Fig. 10). It carries a type label probably written in McLachlan's hand-writing. Now, given the discovery of the type in the OUMNH, Article 74.5 applies and the NHMUK female specimen that van der Weele and Penny considered to be the holotype becomes the lectotype. The specimen in the OUMNH is identified as a paralectotype.

Current name. Ameropterus delicatulus (McLachlan, 1871).

Nomenclature. The original genus name *Colobopterus* Rambur was identified as a junior homonym (Esben-Petersen 1922: 621). *Ameropterus* Esben-Petersen is the replacement name.

5. dentifer Westwood, 1847 [Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster)] (One syntype; Fig. 11)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 69; "Inhabits the East Indies. Col. Hearsey.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Walker (1853: 421) reported a specimen at the NHMUK; it was from the "East Indies" and originally in the collection of Mr. Stevens. Later, van der Weele (1908: 241, fig. 197) reported seeing "Typen" in London, and he provided an image of one of the specimens. Fraser (1922: 516) also reported a type in the NHMUK. Apparently, there have been no reports of the type in the OUMNH since the original description.

We found a syntype of *A. dentifer*, sex undetermined, in the OUMNH (NEUR0049, Fig. 11); its labels confirm it as one of Westwood's syntypes from the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology. We also found in the NHMUK the specimen that was shown in van der Weele's image (a female, NHMUK010212096). Its labels too are in Westwood's handwriting, and we consider it to be a second syntype. Other specimens are associated with this syntype in the NHMUK; their type status should be evaluated.

Thus, there are syntypes in the OUMNH and NHMUK. No lectotype has been designated.

Current name. Glyptobasis dentifera (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** Hagen (1866: 382) referred to the species as *Ogcogaster dentifer* Westwood. The current combination was first used by McLachlan (1873a: 268) and has remained unchanged since then.



Figure 11. OUMNH syntype of *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) dentifer* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0049, sex undetermined).

**6.** *dissimilis* McLachlan, 1871 (*Colobopterus*) (Lectotype, new designation; one paralectotype; Figs 12, 13)

**Original description.** *J. Linn. Soc. Lond., Zoology, 1873a [1871], 11: 251; "Hab.* Amazons (*Bates*). This curious little species is remarkable for the dissimilarity of form in the sexes, as confirmed by the notes made in situ by Mr. Bates. I have seen only one  $\delta$ , which is in the Oxford Museum.".

**Type series.** The description included information and measurements for both male and female specimens. Thus, we conclude that McLachlan's type series consisted of the single male and at least one female.

Both van der Weele (1908: 136) and Penny (1981b: 632), respectively, mentioned "Typen" and "syntype male and female" in the OUMNH. Currently, two specimens (syntypes) are in the collection. One (NEUR0045-01, Fig. 12) has a "(Type)" label that probably is in McLachlan's handwriting; it bears a "♂" notation and likely is the male that McLachlan noted in his description. Here, because of the differences between the sexes that McLachlan noted, we designate this male specimen as the lectotype (present designation). The other syntype (NEUR0045-02, Fig. 13), a female, now becomes a paralectotype.

In addition, there is one type (examined) in the NHMUK (NHMUK010212093). McLachlan's label on this specimen indicates that it is a female; it also has an original "Brazil, Bates" label. We consider this specimen to be a paralectotype.



**Figure 12.** Lectotype (present designation) of *Colobopterus dissimilis* McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0045-01, male).



Figure 13. OUMNH paralectotype of Colobopterus dissimilis McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0045-02, female).

Current name. Ameropterus dissimilis (McLachlan, 1871).

Nomenclature. The original genus name *Colobopterus* Rambur was identified as a junior homonym (Esben-Petersen 1922: 621). *Ameropterus* Esben-Petersen is the replacement name.

#### 7. leucostigma Walker, 1860 (Ascalaphus) (One syntype; Fig. 14)

Original description. Trans. R. Ent. Soc. Lond., 10: 195; "Amazon region.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** The original description by Walker made no mention of the number or sexes of the specimens in the type series. About 10 years after the original description, McLachlan (1873a: 235) redescribed Walker's species and specifically mentioned the collector ("Bates"), a female specimen, as well as two depositories (NHMUK and OUMNH). Thus, it is clear that there was more than one specimen in the type series and that the OUMNH housed at least one of them. Currently, there is one type, sex undetermined, in the OUMNH (NEUR0078, Fig. 14). It was standing over the name *leucostigma*. Its labels match the locality data in the original description and also the collector information that McLachlan had reported.

Penny (1981b: 613) referred to a specimen in the NHMUK as the "holotype"; however, he made no mention of selecting this specimen in favor of the other syntype(s) known



Figure 14. OUMNH syntype of Ascalaphus leucostigma Walker, 1860 (NEUR0078, sex undetermined).

to exist. Thus, under ICZN Article 74.5, this citation does not serve as a valid lectotype designation, and the two specimens in the NHMUK and the OUMNH remain as syntypes. **Current name.** *Ascalobyas microcerus* (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** Hagen (1866: 384) synonymized *A. leucostigma* with *Haploglenius costatus* (Burmeister, 1839). Later McLachlan (1873a: 236) listed both "*H. leucostigma*, Walker" and "*H. costatus*, Burmeister" as valid species, without comment. Then, in 1908, also without comment, van der Weele (1908: 32) listed the two names *Ascalaphus leucostigma* and *Haploglenius leucostigma* as synonyms of *Byas microcerus* Rambur; he also viewed *H. costatus* as a valid species. Penny (1981b: 613) confirmed the synonymy of *A. leucostigma* under *B. microcerus*, and he replaced the preoccupied generic name *Byas* with the new generic name *Ascalobyas* (Penny 1981a: 395).

# 8. longus Walker, 1853 (Ascalaphus) (Three historical specimens; Fig. 15)

**Original description.** List of the specimens of neuropterous insects in the collection of the British Museum. Part II.--(Sialides--Nemopterides). British Museum, London. 1853: 435; "Bengal.". Two specimens indicated as: "a" and "b".

**Type series.** Walker (1853: 432, 434, 435) described four very similar species of *Ascalaphus*: three from Bengal, and one without locality data. Types of all four species, including *A. longus*, are in the NHMUK, and the *A. longus* type carries the label (NHMUK010212097). Both McLachlan (1873a: 265) and van der Weele (1908: 230)



**Figure 15. a, b, c** Three historical OUMNH specimens of *Ascalaphus longus* Walker, 1853, probably all female **d** the head label that rests above all three specimens.

examined the types of all four species, but lectotypes have not been designated. Apparently, numerous specimens were also in the de Sélys collection (van der Weele 1908: 230).

We also found three additional specimens (probably all female, unconfirmed) in the OUMNH standing over the name "*Acheron longus*". Two of these specimens bear labels reading "Silhet" (Fig. 15a, b), and the third specimen has no data other than a label that reads "Ashmole Mus" (Fig. 15c). The locality "Silhet" is in Bangladesh (formerly East Bengal). Thus, it is possible that these specimens were included among the type series that Walker used in his original description. However, this suggestion is unconfirmed, and at this time we are not identifying them as syntypes. [Note: Walker (1853: 432) used the term "Group *Acheron*, Lefebvre" to refer to *Ascalaphus trux* Walker, one of the four species that is very closely related to *A. longus*. Later, the group name *Acheron* replaced the genus name for both species].

The large label under all three specimens in the OUMNH reads "longus Q, Walker (loquax Walk)"; it probably was written by McLachlan (Fig. 15d). The evidence (the position of the head label and specimens in the collection, and the locality labels on the specimens) indicates that these specimens likely were examined by McLachlan prior to his discussion of Walker's descriptions (see below).

Current name. Acheron longus (Walker, 1853).

**Nomenclature.** McLachlan (1873a: 265) examined the variation among the four species that Walker described, and he synonymized three of the species (*A. trux, A. loquax,* and *A. anticus*) under *A. longus.* He specifically indicated that *A. longus* was the senior synonym of the four. He also transferred *A. longus* to the genus *Acheron* Lefebvre, 1842 and designated it as the type species of the genus. According to ICZN Article 24, McLachlan, as First Reviser, was justified in establishing precedence among the simultaneously published names. Thus, the name (*longus*) that he selected as the senior synonym has priority over the other three names.

Later, van der Weele (1908: 228) similarly recognized the four species names as synonymous, but he contradicted McLachlan's earlier (1873a) work that already had established precedence among the names. Unfortunately, subsequent authors also appear to have ignored McLachlan's early synonymies; as a result, the species with its various synonyms is erroneously listed in later systematic work and catalogs as *A. trux* (e.g., Fraser 1922: 516, Ghosh and Sen 1977: 321, Ghosh 1988: 175–179, Ghosh 2000: 105, Oswald 2018). Although the junior synonym has been used frequently, the reversal of precedence has not been exclusive (e.g., Needham 1909: 198), and, to our knowledge, it has not been in prevailing usage as defined by ICZN Article 23.9. Thus, the original revisionary work of McLachlan retains its priority, and *A. longus* (not *A. trux*) remains as the valid name.

**9.** *macleayanus* Guilding, 1823 (*Ascalaphus*) (Two adult syntypes and one larval syntype; Figs 16, 17)

**Original description.** *Trans. Linn. Soc. Lond., 1825 [1823], 14: 140;* "... Ste Vincentii; ... Mensibus Maio, Jan., Feb., occurrit. [Saint Vincent in the Lesser Antilles, Caribbean Region, flight during May, Jan., Feb.]".



**Figure 16.** First of two OUMNH adult syntypes of *Ascalaphus macleayanus* Guilding, 1823 (NEUR0047-01, sex undetermined).

**Type series.** The description's notations – "Varietas  $\beta$ . (an sexus alter?)", and "*Ova* oblonga ...", "*Larva Pupa*que latent" – indicate that during the description Guilding had studied more than one adult specimen, as well as eggs and immatures. Later, McLachlan (1873a: 247) also reported that there were several specimens (including larvae) in the OUMNH. Subsequently, van der Weele (1908: 101–102) stated, in the plural, that "Die Typen, Larven, etc. sind im Oxford Museum." In contrast, Penny (1981b: 646) and Penny et al. (1997: 42) indicated that no type was seen in the OUM-NH, but that there was a "Holotype male" in the NHMUK.

We found three specimens in the OUMNH. One adult, with a museum type label (NEUR0047-01, Fig. 16), was in the type collection. The tip of its abdomen is missing or damaged, and its sex is unknown. Two additional specimens with appropriate label data were found near the type collection. One (NEUR0047-02, Fig. 17a) is an adult, probably of the same species as the primary type (sex undetermined). It does not correspond to the description of Var.  $\beta$  mentioned by Guilding. The other specimen is a larva (first instar, NEUR0047-03, Fig. 17b). We consider that both of these specimens are part of the type series.

Our reasons for including the larval specimen as part of the type series are several. First, Guilding (1825) provided a clear description of the egg and also included categories for larvae and pupae in his description. Second, the larval specimen in the collection is a newly hatched first instar that most likely emerged from an egg that Guilding obtained from one of his adult specimens. Thus, it was available at the time he prepared the description of the adult. Third, the term "latent" that Guilding used



Figure 17. Second and third OUMNH syntypes of *Ascalaphus macleayanus* Guilding, 1823 **a** adult (NEUR0047-02, sex undetermined) **b** larva (NEUR0047-03).

to describe the larva and/or pupa has several meanings, including (but not limited to) "hidden", "concealed", "lying", "unknown", "escaping notice". Given this range of meanings, he may have used the term "latent" to refer to the larval habit of concealing itself. Fourth, the larval specimen carries a Westwood label and another old label clearly identifying it as *Ascalaphus macleayanus*. Together, these clues indicate that in all

probability the larval specimen was examined by Guilding at the time of the description and should be included as a syntype.

We are unaware of a lectotype designation for this species. At this point, the three specimens in the OUMNH are the only confirmed syntypes. However, there are multiple specimens of the species in the NHMUK collection that should be examined.

Current name. Ululodes macleayanus (Guilding, 1823).

**Nomenclature.** Originally assigned to *Ascalaphus*, the species was listed in *Suhpalacsa* by Hagen (1866: 385, as *Suphalasca*). Later, McLachlan (1873a: 247) moved it to the genus *Ulula*, and subsequently Banks (1907: 32) synonymized it under *Ululodes hyalinus* (Latreille, 1817, as *hyalina*). However, the species name with the current combination was reinstated as valid by van der Weele (1908: 101). Six subspecific names have been proposed for this species (van der Weele 1908: 101); apparently not all are valid (see Penny 1981b: 648).

10. mexicana McLachlan, 1871 (Ulula) (One syntype; Fig. 18)

**Original description.** J. Linn. Soc. Lond., Zoology, 1873a [1871], 11: 248; "Hab. Mexico. In De Sélys's collection and in the Oxford Museum.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Because the statement in the original description indicates two depositories, clearly the type series contained more than one specimen. We found one



Figure 18. OUMNH syntype of Ulula mexicana McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0043, probably male).

syntype in the OUMNH (NEUR0043, Fig. 18). The male hindwing of this species typically is unmarked (van der Weele 1908: 116, Figs 77, 78), whereas the female hindwing bears a heavy mark. We have not examined the abdomen of the type, but based on the lack of a wing mark, we expect that the specimen is male. The notes by van der Weele (1908: 116; also see Oswald 2018) provide considerable information on the type specimens in the de Sélys collection.

Current name. Ululodes mexicanus (McLachlan, 1871).

**Nomenclature.** The combination *Ululodes mexicanus* was first used by van der Weele (1908: 116, as "*U. mexicana*"). The Greek suffix "-odes" of the genus name "*Ululodes*" is considered masculine (ICZN Article 30.1.4.4), and therefore the species name was altered to conform.

11. obscurus Westwood, 1847 [Ascalaphus (Haploglenius)] (One syntype; Fig. 19)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 69; "Inhabits the East Indies. Col. Hearsey.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.



Figure 19. OUMNH syntype of *Ascalaphus (Haploglenius) obscurus* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0073, sex undetermined).

**Type series.** The type of this species, like those of some other species that were in the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology, at one time was considered lost (McLachlan 1891: 513, van der Weele 1908: 68, others listed in Oswald 2018). However, specimens eventually turned up in various collections. Thus, we were not surprised when we found a type for *A. obscurus* in the OUMNH; we consider it to be a syntype, sex undetermined (NEUR0073, Fig. 19). Although its label carries no locality data, it does state the species name and "Cab. Or. Ent." as per the description, and the handwriting is similar to that of other Westwood types (e.g., *Ascalaphus dentifer* Westwood). Moreover, the specimen is surrounded by, and appears to have been prepared in a manner typical of, other specimens collected at the time in the East Indies by Col. Hearsey.

Current name. Stylascalaphus obscurus (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** Previous combinations include *Haploglenius* (?) *obscurus* (Westwood, 1847) by Hagen (1866: 386), *Idricerus? obscurus* Mac Lachlan [sic] by van der Weele (1908: 68), and *Stylonotus obscurus* (Westwood, 1847) by Needham (1909: 199). The current combination is attributed to Sziráki (1998: 65), who proposed *Stylascalaphus* as the replacement name for *Stylonotus* Needham, a junior homonym.

**12.** *segmentator* Westwood, 1847 [*Ascalaphus* (*Ogcogaster*)] (Three syntypes; Figs 20, 21, 22)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 69, fig. 2. "Inhabits the East Indies. In the Collection of W. W. Saunders, Esq., and my own.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood's reference to two depositories indicates that he had more than one specimen in his type series. Three syntypes are in the OUMNH; the first two appear to be males (NEUR0048-01, -02; Figs 20, 21), the third a female (NEUR0048-03, Fig. 22) (sexes unconfirmed). The first specimen (NEUR0048-01) carries four labels, probably all in Westwood's handwriting, that indicate the locality data, species name, Westwood's collection, and the specimen's association with the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology.

In addition to the three OUMNH types above, Walker (1853: 421) reported six specimens collected in the East Indies that are housed in the NHMUK (from the collections of F. C. Dale, Mr. Sowerby, and Mr. Stevens). We found numerous *O. segmentator* specimens in the NHMUK (at least seven males and three females) that could be syntypes, but none are identified as such. It is clear that the history of these specimens should be explored. As far as we know, a lectotype has not been designated.

Current name. Ogcogaster segmentator (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** Westwood described the species within the subspecies *Ascalaphus* (*Ogcogaster*). Later Hagen (1866: 386) referred to it as *Ogcogaster segmentator* Westwood. Hagen's combination was cited subsequently by McLachlan (1873a: 265) and Sziráki (1998: 64).



Figure 20. First of three OUMNH syntypes for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) segmentator* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0048-01, probably male).



**Figure 21.** Second of three OUMNH syntypes for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) segmentator* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0048-02, probably male).



**Figure 22.** Third of three OUMNH syntypes for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) segmentator* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0048-03, probably female).

13. terminalis McLachlan, 1871 (Haploglenius) (One syntype; Fig. 23)

**Original description.** J. Linn. Soc. Lond., Zoology, 1873a [1871], 11: 235; "Hab. Tapajos. (*Bates*). In the British and Oxford Museums.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified. ["Tapajós" refers to a tributary that joins the Amazon River near Santarém, one of Bates' primary collecting areas].

**Type series.** Penny (1981b: 610) reported seeing two syntype males in the NHMUK; currently those specimens are present (NHMUK010212101, NHMUK010212102). Because McLachlan (1873a: 235) reported types in two depositories, the type series must have contained at least one more specimen.

We found a syntype, probably male (unconfirmed), in the OUMNH (NEUR0042, Fig. 23). To our knowledge, no lectotype has been designated; thus the three specimens (NHMUK and OUMNH) remain as syntypes.

Current name. Ascalobyas albistigma (Walker, 1853).

**Nomenclature.** The species was synonymized with *Byas albistigma* (Walker, 1853) by van der Weele (1908: 33). Subsequently, Penny (1981a: 395) recognized the generic name *Byas* Rambur as a junior homonym and proposed *Ascalobyas* as the generic replacement name. The current name was cited by Penny (1981a: 609) and Penny et al. (1997: 41).



Figure 23. OUMNH syntype of Haploglenius terminalis McLachlan, 1871 (NEUR0042, probably male).

14. *tessellatus* Westwood 1847 [*Ascalaphus* (*Ogcogaster*)] (Three syntypes or possible syntypes; Figs 24, 25, 26)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 69, fig. 1. "Inhabits the East Indies. In the Collection of W. W. Saunders, Esq.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Apparently lacking information on Westwood's types in the OUM-NH, van der Weele (1908: 253–254, as *Ogcogaster tessellata*) stated: "Die Typen [plural] sind im Londoner Museum.", and "...is nur in QQ bekannt, ... [... is only known from QQ, ...]". Subsequently, a single female type was reported in the NHMUK by Fraser (1922: 518, as *Ogcogaster tessalata*).

We also found three specimens in the OUMNH uncatalogued type collection. They were curated under a modern, handwritten label with the name *tessellata* (Fig. 24, upper right corner), and all appear to be females (sexes unconfirmed). One (NEUR0074-01, Fig. 24) bears two labels, both in Westwood's handwriting: a locality label reading "Ind. or. / Boys", and a typical Westwood label – a diamond with the letter "W" in the center. Given its labels, we believe that it probably is a syntype. Although the other two specimens lack Westwood's diamond-shaped label, they also might be from the type



**Figure 24.** First of three OUMNH syntypes (or possible syntypes) for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) tessellatus* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0074-01, probably female), with head label (upper right).



Figure 25. Second of three OUMNH syntypes (or possible syntypes) for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) tessellatus* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0074-02, probably female).



**Figure 26.** Third of three OUMNH syntypes (or possible syntypes) for *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) tessellatus* Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0074-03, probably female).

series. They each bear a single label: one reading "Assam" (NEUR0074-02, Fig. 25), and the other reading "Madras" (NEUR0074-03, Fig. 26). At the time the species was described, both localities were considered to be within the East Indies.

Among the specimens of *A. tessellatus* in the NHMUK, one is labeled as a type; it carries the museum number (NHMUK010288521) and has handwritten identification labels. Also, two specimens are present without type labels, but they have labels that are very similar to those on the specimens with type labels. One (NHMUK010212100) is a plump female; the other (NHMUK010212099) is more slender and could be a male. We suggest that the history and type status of these specimens be explored before a lectotype is designated for this species.

Note: The Lacewing Digital Library (Oswald 2018) states that the type is a "holotype, by implicit monotypy"; it cites the article by Fraser (1922) in which the author reports: "Type in Brit. Mus., a female". We do not agree that Fraser necessarily assumed that the specimen he examined in the NHMUK was the only type for this species. Indeed, if he had, he would have been in conflict with published information available at the time, e.g., van der Weele (1908: 253–254). Moreover, Fraser did not specify which of the possible type specimens in the NHMUK he considered to be the primary type; there are at least three possibilites (see above). Thus, under ICZN Article 74.5, Fraser's reference to a type does not constitute a valid lectotype designation, and the three specimens in the NHMUK and the three in the OUMNH remain as syntypes or possible syntypes.

Current name. Ogcogaster tessellata Westwood, 1847.
**Nomenclature.** The original name *Ascalaphus (Ogcogaster) tessellatus* remains as an unreplaced junior homonym of *Ascalaphus tessellatus* described by Lichtenstein (1796: 192). The homonym represents a valid biological entity that is treated as such until replacement. See Oswald (2018) for details.

Originally assigned to *Ascalaphus* (*Ogcogaster*), the current combination, *Ogcogaster tessellata* Westwood, was first used by Hagen (1866: 387, as *tessellatus*).

Note. Fraser (1922: 518), Sziráki (1998: 64), and Ghosh (2000: 107) either wrote or quoted "*tessellatus*" or "*tessellata*" as "*tessalatus*", "*tessalata*", "*tesselatus*", "*tesselatus*, "*tesselatus*", "*tesselatus*, "

#### Chrysopidae (Green lacewings)

With approximately 1200 species, the Chrysopidae is the second largest neuropteran family. It is distributed worldwide; specimens are frequently encountered in nature; and some species are used in the biological control of agricultural and horticultural arthropod pests. The classification of the chrysopid species inhabiting some parts of the world (e.g., Europe, South Africa, Australia, Japan, North America - north of Mexico) is reasonably well developed. However, the faunae from other regions are in need of considerable systematic work. At this time, the revision of the Chrysopidae by Brooks and Barnard (1990) provides the only comprehensive (worldwide) systematic coverage of the genera in the family, and it is now almost 30 years old. Moreover, modern revisions are greatly needed for most genera.

Despite the large size and wide distribution of the family, the OUMNH houses only five chrysopid type specimens, all of which are name bearing. Most are from the Old World. Four were described by J. P. Rambur in 1842, and one by L. Navás in 1913. Taxonomic issues associated with two of the species (*Hemerobius brevicollis* Rambur and *H. conformis* Rambur) were treated earlier (Tauber 2017).

1. brevicollis Rambur, 1842 (Hemerobius) (Lectotype; Fig. 27)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 427;* "Rapporté de l'ile de France par M. Marchal.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** The female specimen in the OUMNH is the lectotype (NEUR0039, Fig. 27); additional images and taxonomic notes are provided by Tauber (2017: 81). The specimen is in reasonably good condition, except that most of its abdomen is missing; basal pieces of the abdomen are in a microvial with glycerol.

Current name. Chrysoperla brevicollis (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** This species was previously known as *Chrysopa brevicollis* (Rambur) and erroneously listed as *Chrysoperla pudica* (Navás). See Brooks (1994: 162) and Tauber (2017: 83) for taxonomic history and status.



Figure 27. Lectotype of *Hemerobius brevicollis* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0039, female).

2. conformis Rambur, 1842 (Hemerobius) (Lectotype; Fig. 28)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 426–7;* "De la Colombia; communiqué par M. Marchal.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.



Figure 28. Lectotype of Hemerobius conformis Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0038, female).

**Type series.** A single type (female, NEUR0038, Fig. 28) exists in the OUMNH. Tauber (2017: 83) designated it as the lectotype and provided a redescription with images. The specimen is in good condition; the abdomen is dissected and held in a microvial with glycerol.

Current name. Ceraeochrysa conformis (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** Previously known as *Chrysopa conformis* (Rambur), the species was transferred to the large genus *Ceraeochrysa* (Tauber 2017: 83). Given that it is now the oldest in the genus, the species is not a junior synonym.

## 3. mauricianus Rambur, 1842 (Hemerobius) (Holotype; Fig. 29)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 425–6;* "Habite Maurice. M. Marchal m'a communiqué un individu qu'il a pris lui-même dans cette ile. [Locality Mauritius. Mr. Marchal sent an individual to me that he collected on this island himself.]".

**Type series.** The original description explicitly mentions one specimen; thus the OUMNH type, sex unknown, is the holotype (by explicit monotypy) (NEUR0040, Fig. 29). It looks very old but is in good condition.

Current name. Chrysopa pallens (Rambur, 1838).

**Nomenclature.** *Hemerobius mauricianus* was synonymized with *Chrysopa septempunctata* Wesmael by Schneider (1851: 101), and later listed as such by Killington (1936–37: 194), Aspöck et al. (1980: 254), and others. Soon after Schneider's publication, *C. septempunctata* was identified as a senior synonym of *Chrysopa pallens* (Rambur, 1838) (see Hagen 1866: 395); later the synonymy was reversed (Leraut 1980: 242). Now, both *C. septempunctata* and *H. mauricianus* are regarded as synonyms of *C. pallens* and are cited as such by Brooks and Barnard (1990: 270), Aspöck et al. (2001: 91), and others. However, the nomenclature of these and other closely related species is not yet settled. [Much of the above information was generously provided by R. A. Pantaleoni].

4. *neavei* Navás, 1913 (*Ancyclopteryx*, a subsequent spelling of *Ankylopteryx*) (Lecto-type; Fig. 30)

**Original description.** Ann. Soc. sci. Bruxelles, 1913b: 37 (pt. 1): 93; "Rhodesia, Nord-Ouest, Plateau Alala, Ndola (environ 400 ft.), 11 oct. 1905, S. A. Neave coll. (Mus. d'Oxford).". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Tjeder (1966: 509) designated the sole specimen, a male, in the OUMNH as the lectotype (NEUR0075, Fig. 30). The tip of the abdomen is cleared, stained, and mounted on a disc that is attached to the pin. Tjeder (1966: 509) also noted that the elevation and date reported in the original description differ from those on the insect labels (Oct. 12 and 4,000 ft. on the label versus Oct. 11 and 400 ft. in the original description). He attributed the discrepancies to a possible printer's error.

Current name. Parankylopteryx polysticta (Navás, 1910).

**Nomenclature.** The original description assigned the species to the genus *Ankylopteryx* (as "*Ancyclopteryx*", a subsequent incorrect spelling). It later was included in the new subgenus *Ankylopteryx* (*Parankylopteryx*) by Tjeder (1966: 508) and synonymized with *Parankylopteryx polysticta* (Navás, 1910) by Hölzel and Ohm (1991: 59).

Maar hower a bury maintie course 10 mm Type 425 Hemerobivs Mauricianus Kombur HOPE DEPT.OXFORD

Figure 29. Holotype of *Hemerobius mauricianus* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0040, sex undetermined).



Figure 30. Lectotype of Ankylopteryx neavei Navás, 1913 (NEUR0075, male).



Figure 31. OUMNH syntype of Hemerobius proximus Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0036, sex undetermined).

## 5. proximus Rambur, 1842 (Hemerobius) (One syntype; Fig. 31)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 425;* "Se trouve dans les bois moins communément que le *Perla.* [Found in the woods less commonly than *perla.*]". The description provides neither locality data nor any information about the number or sexes of the types that Rambur had.

**Type series.** One type (unknown sex), with label reading "Boulogne" [probably Boulogne-sur-Mer, in northern France], is in the OUMNH (NEUR0036, Fig. 31). Although we could find no published references to other type specimens for this species, at this point we consider the OUMNH specimen to be a syntype.

Current name: Nineta vittata (Wesmael, 1841).

**Nomenclature.** Hemerobius proximus was synonymized with Chrysopa vittata Wesmael by Schneider (1851: 65). Later, Navas (1912b: 99) moved C. vittata into his new genus Nineta Navás without mention of H. proximus. Subsequently, he and others (Navás 1915a: 87, Aspöck et al. 1980: 240) listed the synonymy.

## Coniopterygidae (Dusty wings)

The Coniopterygidae is a medium-sized family of small-bodied, cryptic insects (2–5 mm wing length). The wings and bodies of adults generally have a covering of light gray to white ("dusty") wax that is produced by hypodermal glands. Larvae are predaceous on small arthropods, such as homopterans and mites; some species are considered important as natural biological control agents. The revision of the family Coniopterygidae by Meinander (1972) remains a gold standard for neuropteran systematics. It contains information on all species known at the time of publication, their synonymies, the location of type(s), descriptions, drawings, and keys.

Only 18 coniopterygid species were described before 1900. Three of these were described by McLachlan, and the OUMNH contains the holotype of one, a species from Australia. Types of the other two McLachlan species are in the NHMUK: (a) *Coniopteryx pulchella* McLachlan, 1882: 173, lectotype and paralectotype (Meinander 1972: 340), and (b) *Coniopteryx haematica* McLachlan, 1868a: 193, lectotype (Meinander 1972: 270).

## 1. detrita McLachlan, 1867 (Coniopteryx) (Holotype; Fig. 32)

**Original description.** *Entomol. Monthly Mag., 4: 151;* "Habitat ad Adelaide in Australia meridionali. In collect. Mus Oxon. One example in good condition.".

**Type series.** In the OUMNH, there is one specimen, a female, with data matching the original description. It is the holotype by original designation (NEUR0070, Fig. 32).

Current name. Neosemidalis (Neosemidalis) detrita (McLachlan, 1867).



Figure 32. Holotype of Coniopteryx detrita McLachlan, 1867 (NEUR0070, female).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was first used by Enderlein (1930: 107). The species was also previously known as *Parasemidalis detrita* (McLachlan). For additional information, see Meinander (1972: 174) and New (1996: 7).

#### Hemerobiidae (Brown lacewings)

Hemerobiidae is the third largest family in the order Neuroptera; it contains approximately 550 species. Adults are generally small to medium sized and inconspicuous; as their name implies, the wings of most species are brown. However, wing shape and size vary markedly among groups, as do their habitats and plant/host associations. In general, larvae feed on small, soft-bodied arthropods. A comprehensive taxonomic study by Oswald (1993) provides comparative morphological (adult) data and a phylogenetic classification for hemerobiid genera worldwide. In contrast, the quality of information at the species level varies regionally, with most work centered in Europe. Overall, the group is in need of much taxonomic work.

Although brown lacewings are numerous and diverse in Europe, the family is represented by only one type in the OUMNH. The specimen is the holotype of a species that was collected in France and described by Killington.

## 1. fassnidgei Killington, 1933 (Boriomyia) (Holotype; Fig. 33)

**Original description.** *Entomol. Monthly Mag.*, 69: 57, figs 1–4. "FRANCE, Maurin (5,000 ft.), Basses-Alpes. Taken at light, 4<sup>th</sup> Aug., 1932, by Mr. Wm. Fassnidge. ...  $\stackrel{\circ}{\rightarrow}$  in my collection; genitalia preserved as a microscope preparation.".

**Type series.** Killington's specimen, the holotype by original designation, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0037, Fig. 33). Both the specimen and Killington's slide with the mounted male genitalia are as stated in the original description. The database of the NHMUK also lists a type (NHMUK010110716); however, the collection data (locality, date) and the mount of the specimen are not consistent with the original description. Thus, the identification of this specimen and its report as the holotype in the online Lacewing Digital Library (Oswald 2018) are in error.

Current name. Wesmaelius fassnidgei (Killington, 1933).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was first used by Kis et al. (1970: 179). The species was also known as *Kimminsia fassnidgei* [combination by Aspöck (1963: 53)]. See Aspöck et al. (1980: 200; 2001: 139) for more information.



Figure 33. Holotype of Boriomyia fassnidgei Killington, 1933 (NEUR0037, male).

#### Mantispidae (Mantidflies)

Among the Neuroptera, Mantispidae is a moderately large family, with approximately 400 species. It occurs throughout the warm regions of the world, with particularly rich faunae in the tropical regions of Australasia, Africa, and Central and South America. Adults are easily recognized by their raptorial forelegs that resemble those of preying mantids (Mantodea: Mantidae). Larvae are hypermetamorphic; first instars are campodeiform and probably do not feed. The later two instars are grub-like and are known to feed on concealed prey. Some have been reported to prey on encased spider eggs, and others consume aculeate hymenopteran larvae in their nests, in a manner similar to parasitoidism.

The Hope Collection contains a rich assemblage of types and historically important specimens of mantispids. Types of 29 species are reported to be in the collection, and we found type specimens for all of them, including 26 species with primary types (holotype, syntype, or lectotype). Altogether, a total of 49 mantispid type specimens reside in the collection, with 14 from the Old World (Middle East, southern and western Africa, India, Australia, and Oceania) and 15 from the New World (mostly Brazil with H. W. Bates as collector, also Colombia and Venezuela). The authors of the descriptions include Westwood, Navás, Hagen, McLachlan, and Rambur; the range in years of publication is from 1842 to 1914.

The mantispid types presented some of the most challenging nomenclatural issues, probably because they tended to receive more attention from earlier entomologists than did the types in other families. Previous treatment was not always consistent among species, nor with the current ICZN Rules. For quite a few mantispid species, holotype determinations were made (and published) with no or very limited evidence concerning the possible existence of other syntypes. In general, these determinations were accepted into the literature and common usage. In contrast, syntypes of other species that were not studied in the past now tend to receive more rigorous treatment, and holotype assignations are rarely applied. Here, we made a concerted effort to treat all the species similarly, based on their history and a uniform application of the ICZN Rules. After our study, of the 26 species of mantispids with primary types in the OUMNH, twelve are represented by holotypes, nine by lectotypes, and, in stark contrast with the Ascalaphidae (see above), only five by syntypes.

A recent catalog of the world's Mantispidae (Ohl 2004) provides a useful record of known mantispid names, along with their synonymies, the locations of their types, and other pertinent information. It does not provide references for most synonymies or name changes; to obtain that information, we conducted our own search of the literature, with the help of the online Lacewing Digital Library (Oswald 2018).

1. areolaris Westwood, 1852 (Mantispa) (Syntype; Fig. 34)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond., 6 [1]: 265, tab. 18. fig. 3;* "Habitat in Brasilia. Mus. Hope.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.



Figure 34. OUMNH syntype of Mantispa areolaris Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0004, sex undetermined).

**Type series.** Ohl (2004: 170) reported seeing a holotype (or syntype), sex unknown, in the OUMNH. Oswald (2018) classified the specimen similarly. We found a single type in the collection (NEUR0004, Fig. 34); its sex is unconfirmed. Given that there is no information on the original number of specimens in the type series, we too consider the specimen to be a syntype.

Current name. Entanoneura costalis (Erichson, 1839).

**Nomenclature.** The synonymy of *M. areolaris* under *E. costalis* was proposed by Handschin (1960b: 534); listed as such by Ohl (2004: 170). The species was previously known as *Entanoneura areolaris* [combination by Enderlein (1910: 359)] and *Mantispa (Entanoneura) areolaris* [combination by Williner and Kormilev (1958: 8)].

## 2. basella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Holotype; Fig. 35)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 504;* "(Mas.) [Male] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Westwood did not explicitly identify the number of specimens in the type series. However, he designated only one depository, and he referred to one male specimen. Currrently, a single type (male) is in the OUMNH (NEUR0012); it was labeled as the holotype by R. G. Beard in 1968 (Fig. 35). Later, Penny (1982b: 431) and Ohl (2004: 149) examined the specimen and confirmed it as the holotype. Oswald (2018) referred to it as the holotype (by implicit monophyly).



Figure 35. Holotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) basella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0012, male).

Current name. Trichoscelia iridella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** Penny (1982b: 431) proposed the synonymy; it was listed by Ohl (2004: 149).

**3.** *batesella* Westwood, 1867 (*Mantispa*) (Lectotype, new designation; three paralectotypes; Figs 36, 37)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 507;* "(Mas et foem.) [Male and female] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood's description did not specifically state the number of types he studied. However, he did mention seeing a male and a female, so there was more than one. Penny (1982b: 448) and Penny and de Costa (1983: 668) stated that Westwood's types were not in the OUMNH, but that they might be in the NHMUK. However, Ohl (2004: 169) and Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 441) later reported seeing types in the OUMNH.

Four syntypes are held in the OUMNH. We did not find any in the NHMUK. In 1986, R. G. Beard applied a lectotype label to one of the OUMNH specimens, a male (NEUR0019-01, Fig. 36), and paralectotype labels to the three others: one male (NEUR0019-02, Fig. 37a), one female (NEUR0019-03, Fig. 37b), and one unknown



Figure 36. Lectotype (new designation) of Mantispa batesella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0019-01, male).



**Figure 37.** Three of three OUMNH paralectotypes of *Mantispa batesella* Westwood, 1867 **a** NEUR0019-02, male **b** NEUR0019-03, female **c** NEUR0019-04, sex undetermined.

sex (NEUR0019-04, Fig. 37c). However, he did not publish his designations. Here we confirm Beard's choice of the above male OUMNH NEUR0019-01 as the lectotype (present designation) of *Mantispa batesella* Westwood. The other three specimens become paralectotypes as labeled.

Current name. Entanoneura batesella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** The first use of the current combination was by Enderlein (1910: 359) [cited by Handschin (1960b: 536), Penny and de Costa (1983: 665), Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 441), and Ardila-Camacho et al. (2018: 321)]. Note: According to the Lacewing Digital Library (Oswald 2018), the species was also known previously as *Sagittalata batesella* (Westwood). We did not find a reference for this combination, nor is it listed by Ohl (2004).

## 4. bella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Holotype; Fig. 38)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 502;* "(Foem.) [Female] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Although Westwood's description did not specifically state how many type specimens he had, he referred to a female, and he designated only one depository.

A single type (female) is in the OUMNH (NEUR0008, Fig. 38). It was idenitified as the holotype by Penny (1982b: 418) and subsequently listed as such by Ohl (2004: 146). Oswald (2018) also listed it as the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Anchieta bella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** Anchieta became the generic replacement name after Anisoptera Schneider was identified as a junior homonym (Penny 1982a: 216–217). The first use of the current combination was by Penny (1982b: 418). The species was also previously known as *Trichoscelia bella* (Westwood) [generic assignment by Enderlein (1910: 376), but without use of the combination] and Anisoptera bella (Westwood) [generic assignment by Gerstaecker (1887: 117), without use of the combination].

#### 5. biseriata Westwood, 1852 (Mantispa) (Lectotype; Fig. 39)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, 6 [1]: 263, tab. 17, fig. 7; "Habitat in Australia, Moreton Bay. D. Mossman. Mus. Westw.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** We found no information on how many type specimens Westwood had, nor the sex(es). However, his original description does indicate one depository, his personal collection.

One type, in relatively poor condition and with sex unknown, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0002, Fig. 39). It carries a holotype label applied by R. G. Beard in 1968. Lambkin (1986a: 36) identified this specimen as the holotype and provided full information on its condition. Subsequently, Oswald (2018) listed it as the holotype (by



Figure 38. Holotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) bella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0008, female).



Figure 39. Lectotype of Mantispa biseriata Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0002, sex undetermined).

implicit monotypy). However, none of the above individuals stated how he determined that the specimen was the sole member of Westwood's type series or if it was Westwood's choice as the primary type among syntypes.

In addition to the specimen in the OUMNH, a specimen in the NHMUK carries a label that is typical of NHMUK type specimens (circular, with a red margin). Apparently, this is the specimen that Ohl (2004: 151) listed as the holotype. However, it does not carry original locality or other labels that identify it as a type, and we cannot confirm type status for it. R. G. Beard's label on this specimen (NHMUK) states that he did not consider it to be a primary type, but rather a male topotype. We agree with Beard's conclusion here.

Thus, we now know that the single OUMNH specimen is the only verified namebearing type for this species, but we see a lack of support either for or against monotypy. It appears that Lambkin's identification of the OUMNH specimen as the holotype serves to fix it as the lectotype, by subsequent designation.

Current name. Ditaxis biseriata (Westwood, 1852).

Nomenclature. Originally, Brauer (1867: 285) transferred *M. biseriata* to the genus *Drepanicus* Blanchard. However, McLachlan (1868b: 262) felt that the species warranted a separate genus, and he assigned the current combination. Lambkin (1986a: 36) provides a full list of synonymies.

#### 6. chilensis Hagen, 1859 (Mantispa) (Syntype; Fig. 40)

**Original description.** *Entomol. Zeit., 20: 408;* "Patria Chili. Zwei Stücke von Dohrn mitgetheilt.".

**Type series.** In his original description, Hagen stated that he received two specimens from Dohrn, one of which probably was a male and the primary specimen that he described. Apparently, that specimen remained in his own collection in the MCZ. He sent the other specimen, which he reported as larger and possibly a female, to Westwood perhaps even before he wrote his description of *M. chilensis*. Ohl (2004: 152 and Footnote 15) noted Hagen's report of two specimens, and he identified the type in the MCZ as a syntype (MCZT-10428; images not available, sex not reported). The whereabouts of the second specimen has long been unknown.

There is a male specimen in the OUMNH (NEUR0015, Fig. 40) that is identified as a type, and that carries locality data and other labels consistent with the original description. Given that this specimen is male, and that neither it nor the type in the MCZ have been studied in detail, for now we consider them to be syntypes. A lectotype has not been selected.

#### Current name. Gerstaeckerella chilensis (Hagen, 1859).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Enderlein (1910: 373), confirmed by Banks (1913a: 207), and listed by Penny (1977: 34). The species previously resided in *Symphrasis* Hagen (see Hagen 1877: 211, Enderlein 1910: 373), and later in *Anisoptera* Schneider, after *Symphrasis* was synonymized with *Anisoptera* (see Gerstaecker 1887: 117; Penny 1982a: 212).

Manlespa chilense - Eul Bert. Steff 20 h 408 TYPE Neur: No 15 Mantispa chilensis Hagen HOPE DEPT.OXFORD

Figure 40. OUMNH syntype of Mantispa chilensis Hagen, 1859 (NEUR0015, male).

7. cognatella Westwood, 1867 (Mantispa) (Lectotype; Figs 41, 42)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond., 15: 506;* "Habitat apud Sanctam Martham, Venezuelae. In Mus. Oxon.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** There is one Westwood specimen, a female, in the OUMNH (NEUR0017, Figs 41, 42). In 1968, R. G. Beard identified this specimen as the holotype, and both Penny (1982b: 425) and Ohl (2004: 148) refer to it as the holotype. None of these three individuals provided any information as to why they considered this specimen to be the only one that Westwood had in the type series. In the absence of any evidence for monotypy, we conclude that Penny's identification of the OUMNH specimen as the holotype served to fix it as the lectotype, by subsequent designation.

The information on the locality label of the OUMNH specimen differs somewhat from that reported by Westwood. The label reads: "Sta. Martha Bolivia", not "Sanctam Martham, Venezuelae" as reported in the original description (see Figs 41, 42). Penny (1982b: 425) noted the anomaly; he suggested that specimens with such locality data might be from Santa Marta, a colonial city on Colombia's Caribbean coast near Venezuela; this site was frequented by insect collectors.

Current name. Plega hagenella (Westwood, 1867).

Nomenclature. Penny (1982b: 425) proposed the synonymy with *Plega hagenella* (Westwood, 1867); it was listed by Ohl (2004: 148) and confirmed by Ardila-



Figure 41. Lectotype of *Mantispa cognatella* Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0017, female).



**Figure 42.** Lectotype of *Mantispa cognatella* Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0017, female) **a** frontolateral view **b** dorsolateral view.

Camacho and García (2015: 415), using OUMNH images of types. The species was also known as *Symphrasis cognatella* (Westwood) [combination by Hagen (1877: 211); see Oswald (2018)].

8. crucifera Navás, 1914 (Mantispa) (Lectotype, three paralectotypes; Figs 43, 44)

**Original description.** *Bol. Soc. Aragonesa Cien. Nat., 1914c, 13: 61;* "Tasmania, about 100 ft. Plenty, abt. 30 m. N. W. of Hobart, on Derwent Riv.' Julio 1902, J. J. Walker.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** From Navás' statements in the description, clearly his type series contained more than one specimen, and his specimens showed variation in venation and size. Lambkin (1986b: 22) identified four specimens in the type series. The OUMNH has all four, and they have identification labels with Navás' handwriting. Only one specimen (a male) carries a Navás "Type" label, and Lambkin identified this male as the holotype (NEUR0024-01, Fig. 43). He identified two other male specimens as paratypes (NEUR0024-02, NEUR0024-04; Fig. 44a, b), and a fourth specimen (NEUR0024-03, Fig. 44c) as belonging to another species: *Campion callosus* Lambkin. It is labeled as such.

Here we are in agreement with Ohl (2004: 163 and Footnote 33) who noted that Lambkin's holotype identification served to fix the lectotype designation. This designation is justified, because Lambkin (1986b: 22) clearly indicated that he selected a specific specimen as the holotype over the other syntypes available. Thus, ICZN Article 74.5 applies to his use of the term holotype, and the lectotype designation is valid. The remaining specimens (NEUR0024-02, -03, -04), including the misidentified one, are all regarded as paralectotypes.

Current name. Campion cruciferus (Navás, 1914).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Lambkin (1986b: 21) and listed by Ohl (2004: 163).



Figure 43. Lectotype of Mantispa crucifera Navás, 1914 (NEUR0024-01, male).



**Figure 44.** Three OUMNH paralectotypes of *Mantispa crucifera* Navás, 1914, **a** NEUR0024-02 (male) **b** NEUR0024-04 (male) **c** NEUR0024-03 (sex undetermined), now considered not to be conspecific with the lectotype.

## 9. delicatula Westwood, 1852 (Mantispa) (Lectotype, one paralectotype; Figs 45, 46)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, 6 [1]: 261, *Tab. nostr. 17, fig. 5;* "Habitat apud Adelaidam. D. Fortnum. In Mus. Hope.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood cited one depository, the OUMNH, and he noted that the specimens he studied displayed a substantial range of variation in body size, coloration, and wing venation. For example, note the size range of the scale bars on fig. 5 of Tab. nostr. 17 and the comments in the last paragraph of the original description. Lambkin (1986a: 62) reported two specimens in the OUMNH. Later, Banks (1939: 479) reported a type for this species in the Hagen collection at the MCZ (currently listed in the MCZ Type Database, type 10420; see Ohl 2004: Footnote 19). Therefore, we know that there were at least two, and probably more, specimens in Westwood's type series. He did not specify a primary type.

We found the two aforementioned types in the OUMNH. The body length of the smaller one (NEUR0001-01, Fig. 45) is similar to that measured by Westwood for his smaller specimen. In 1968, R. G. Beard labeled this specimen as the lectotype (sex unknown, abdomen missing). However, he never published his lectotype designation.



Figure 45. Lectotype of Mantispa delicatula Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0001-01, sex undetermined).



**Figure 46.** OUMNH paralectotype of *Mantispa delicatula* Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0001-02, sex undetermined), now considered not to be conspecific with the lectotype.

Later, Lambkin (1986a: 62) identified it as the holotype – an action that fixed the specimen as the lectotype (ICZN Article 74.5).

The second type in the OUMNH (NEUR0001-02, Fig. 46), sex undetermined, is considerably larger than the first; it corresponds in size with the body length that Westwood reported for his larger specimen. This specimen carries a label reading "*Mantispa delicatula* var Westw", as well as another label applied by R. G. Beard stating his opinion that this specimen was not conspecific with the first specimen. Indeed, Lambkin (1986a: 62) did not consider the larger, second specimen to be among the type series. Rather, he quoted Dr. M. W. R. de V. Graham who told him that this specimen never stood with the type specimen, that it was labeled "*delicatula* Westw. Var.", and that it should not be considered a syntype.

Later, Ohl (2004: Footnote 19) disagreed with Lambkin's interpretation. He felt that because Westwood's description included information from more than one specimen, and that it cited a substantial range of size and color variation, the larger specimen should be included as a syntype. Although we found the large Westwood specimen (NEUR0001-02) in the main collection, not among the OUMNH types, we agree with Ohl's stance and confirm that the situation is in conformance with Article 72.4.1 that requires the specimen to be included as a syntype. Westwood wrote "Var." after the species name on his determination label, but there is no indication that he doubted the species identity of this specimen, or that he intended to exclude it from the type series. As a result, we agree with Ohl (2004: Footnote 19) that Westwood's second specimen (NEUR0001-02), whether conspecific with the lectotype or not, is part of the type series, and we identify it as a paralectotype of *M. delicatula*.

We found one old specimen of *M. delicatula* in the NHMUK (NHMUK011250016). Although it has locality data that are consistent with the type series, it is not labeled as a type, and its possible paralectotype status needs further investigation.

Current name. Theristria delicatula (Westwood, 1852).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Gerstaecker (1884: 44), confirmed by Banks (1913a: 207), and listed by Ohl (2004: 154). See Lambkin (1986a: 61) for a full synonymy.

## 10. eurydella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Holotype; Fig. 47)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 501;* "Foem. [Female] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Westwood's description mentioned a female specimen and designated one depository. We found only one type in the OUMNH (NEUR0007, Fig. 47), and it is a female. Penny (1982b: 419), Ohl (2004: 146), and Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 408) identified the specimen as the holotype, and Oswald (2018) listed it as the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Anchieta eurydella (Westwood, 1867).



Figure 47. Holotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) eurydella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0007, female).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was offered by Penny (1982b: 419); cited by Ohl (2004: 146), Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 408), and Ardila-Camacho et al. (2018: 321). The species was previously known as *Trichoscelia eurydella* Westwood [combination by Enderlein (1910: 376)] and *Anisoptera eurydella* (Westwood) [generic assignment by Gerstaecker (1887: 117), but without use of the combination]. *Anchieta* became the replacement name after *Anisoptera* Schneider was identified as a junior homonym (see Penny 1982a: 216–217).

# 11. fasciatella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Holotype; Fig. 48)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond., 15: 503;* "(Foem.) [Female] ... Habitat apud Sanctam Martham, Venezuelae. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Westwood's description did not state specifically how many type specimens he had. However, he mentioned one female, and he designated one depository, the OUMNH. The collection holds only one type of this species, a female (NEUR0010, Fig. 48). R. G. Beard had labeled it as the holotype, and Ohl (2004: 147), Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 413), and Oswald (2018) listed both holotype and syntype assignations as possible. However, to be consistent with the other Westwood species described at the same time and in the same manner (e.g., *M. basella, M. bella, M. eurydella, M. fumosella, M. hagenella, M. sequella*), this specimen also should be considered a holotype (by implicit monotypy).



Figure 48. Holotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) fasciatella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0010, female).

The specimen in the OUMNH carries labels that identify it as a type, but some of the information on the locality label differs from that in the original description. The label reads: "Bolivia", not "Venezuelae" as in the description. Penny (1982b: 425) noted the same anomaly for types of *Mantispa cognatella* (Westwood) (above). He suggested that specimens carrying such locality data might be from the colonial city of Santa Marta, a frequent collecting site on Colombia's Caribbean coast near Venezuela.

Current name. Anchieta fasciatella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** Penny (1982b: 422), Ohl (2004: 147), and Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 413) included the species in the genus *Plega*. However, recently, Ardila-Camacho et al. (2018: 297) demonstrated that it belongs in the genus *Anchieta*. The species also was previously known as *Trichoscelia fasciatella* Westwood [combination by Enderlein (1910: 376)] and *Anisoptera fasciatella* (Westwood) [generic assignment by Gerstaecker (1887: 117), but the combination apparently was unused and the generic name is a junior homonym (Penny 1982a: 216–217)].

# 12. fumosella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Holotype; Fig. 49)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 504;* "(Mas.) [Male] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Westwood's description did not state specifically how many type specimens he had; however, he mentioned studying a male specimen, and he designated a



Figure 49. Holotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) fumosella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0013, male).

single depository, the OUMNH. One type, a male, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0013, Fig. 49). It was labeled as the holotype by R. G. Beard in 1968, and later Penny (1982b: 420) referred to it as a "male holotype". Subsequently, both Ohl (2004: 146) and Oswald (2018) indicated that holotype or syntype designations are possible. To be consistent with other specimens described by Westwood in the same publication and in the same manner (e.g., *M. fasciatella*, above), this specimen should be considered the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Anchieta fumosella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Penny (1982b: 419) and listed by Ohl (2004: 146). The species was previously known as *Trichoscelia fumosella* Westwood [generic assignment by Enderlein (1910: 376), but combination not used] and *Anisoptera fumosella* (Westwood) [generic assignment by Gerstaecker (1887: 117), but combination not used]. *Anchieta fumosella* (Westwood) became the replacement name after *Anisoptera* Schneider was identified as a homonym (see Penny 1982a: 216–217).

# 13. gracilis Rambur, 1842 (Mantispa) (One syntype; Fig. 50)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 433;* "Habite, dans la Colombie, les environs de Santa-Fé-de-Bogota.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** A type (sex unknown) is reported from the IRSNB, Brussels (Ohl 2004: 184, Oswald 2018). We did not confirm this report. The OUMNH holds one



Figure 50. OUMNH syntype of Mantispa gracilis Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0022, female).

syntype, a female in poor condition (NEUR0022, Fig. 50). It has not received much attention in the literature. Apparently, no lectotype has been designated.

Current name. Mantispa iridipennis Guérin-Méneville, 1844.

**Nomenclature.** A tentative synonymy was offered by Westwood (1852: 256); subsequently it was listed by Penny (1977: 35) and Ohl (2004: 184). The original name is a junior homonym of *Mantispa gracilis* Erichson, 1839 [now *Dicromantispa gracilis* (Erichson, 1839)] (see Oswald 2018).

# 14. haematina Navás, 1914 (Mantispilla) (Holotype; Fig. 51)

**Original description.** *Bol. Soc. Aragonesa Cien. Nat., [1914c] 13: 62;* "Africa meridional: 'Salisbury, 5.000 feet, Mashonaland'. Sept. 1900, G. A. K. Marshall.". Number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Navás' article (by title) is focused on specimens in the OUMNH, and it did not state specifically how many type specimens of this species he had. However, the original description gave measurements for a single female. We found one type with a Navás type label in the OUMNH, a female (NEUR0025, Fig. 51). Ohl (2004: 183) identified it as the holotype, and Oswald (2018) referred to holotype or syntype assignments as being possible. To be consistent with other mantispid species treated here (mostly described by Westwood), we consider the specimen to be a holotype (by implicit monotypy).

#### Current name. Mantispa haematina (Navás, 1914).

**Nomenclature.** *Mantispilla* was considered a subgenus of *Mantispa* by Enderlein (1910: 346), and the two generic level names, *Mantispilla* and *Mantispa* (*Mantispilla*), were synonymized under *Mantispa* by Penny (1982a: 217). Ohl (2004: 183) probably made the first subsequent use of the current combination.



Figure 51. Holotype of Mantispilla haematina Navás, 1914 (NEUR0025, female).

### 15. hagenella Westwood, 1867 (Mantispa) (Holotype; Figs 52, 53)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 504;* "(Mas.) [Male] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Although Westwood's description did not state specifically how many type specimens he used, he specified a single depository, the OUMNH, and he mentioned one male specimen. In 1968, R. G. Beard labeled the specimen (NEUR0014, Figs 52, 53) as the holotype. He also cleared the abdomen, which is preserved in a separate vial. Later, Penny (1982b: 425) referred to the specimen as the holotype; subsequently Ohl (2004: 148) and Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 415) listed it as the holotype, and Oswald (2018) identified it as the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Plega hagenella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination is by Penny (1982b: 425); it was listed by Ohl (2004: 148), Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 415), and Ardila-Camacho et al. (2018: 298). The species was also known previously as *Gerstaeckerella hagenella* (Westwood) [combination by Enderlein (1910: 370)].

The Lacewing Digital Library (Oswald 2018) lists the combination *Trichoscelia* hagenella (Westwood) as a synonym of this species. In his original description, Westwood (1867: 504) expressly excluded *M. hagenella* from subgenus *Trichoscelia*, and we have not seen the combination used elsewhere. Neither Ohl (2004: 148), Ardila-Camacho and García (2015: 415), nor Ardila-Camacho et al. (2018: 298) listed the combination among the synonyms of *P. hagenella*.



Figure 52. Holotype of Mantispa hagenella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0014, male).



Figure 53. Holotype of *Mantispa hagenella* Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0014, male), cleared abdomen a lateral b ventral c dorsal.

# 16. hamiltonella Westwood, 1867 (Mantispa) (Syntype; Fig. 54)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, 15: 506; "Habitat in India orientali. Dna. Hamilton. In Mus. Oxon.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** A single type, a female, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0018, Fig. 54). It was labeled as the holotype in 1968 by R. G. Beard. Subsequently, Ohl (2004: 162) and Oswald (2018) stated that one or more syntypes may exist. Given the lack of any supporting evidence of monotypy, we consider that syntypes are possible.

Current name. Campanacella hamiltonella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** The genus name was most recently reassigned by Handschin (1961: 280) and listed by Ohl (2004: 162). The species was also known as *Entanoneura hamiltonella* (Westwood) [combination by Enderlein (1910: 359)] and *Eumantispa hamiltonella* (Westwood) [name used by Banks (1934: 568), but not cited as a new combination].



Figure 54. OUMNH syntype of Mantispa hamiltonella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0018, female).

17. indica Westwood, 1852 (Mantispa) (Two paralectotypes; Figs 55, 56)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, 6 [1]: 268, tab. 18, fig. 5; "Habitat in India orientali, Calcutta, Nepalia. (D. Hardwicke, &c.) In Mus. Britann., Westwood.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood's description mentioned two depositories (British Museum and his own collection), and Ohl (2004: 184) reported seeing types at the OUMNH and the NHMUK. Two types (sexes unconfirmed, one probably female) are in the OUMNH (NEUR0005-01, -02; Figs 55, 56).

New lectotype designation, NHMUK specimen. We also found a type identified as the lectotype by R. G. Beard in the NHMUK; however, his designation was never published. Here, we designate this specimen (labeled male) as the lectotype (present designation). Its labels read: (1) "Type", (2) "Nepal" on one side, "Hardwicke Beq" on the other side, (3) "indica Westw", (4) "LECTOTYPE ♂, MANTISPA INDICA Westwood 1852, designated by R. G. Beard 1968", (5) "BMNH(E) 1253432". With the above designation, the two specimens in the OUMNH become paralectotypes.

Current name. Mantispa indica Westwood, 1852.

**Nomenclature.** The name is now the same as the original, and it is listed as such by Ohl (2004: 184). For a while, the species was known as *Mantispa* (*Mantispilla*) *indica* (Westwood) [combination by Enderlein (1910: 346)]. Later, the name *Mantispilla* was synonymized with *Mantispa* by Penny (1982a: 217).



**Figure 55.** First of two OUMNH paralectotypes for *Mantispa indica* Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0005-01, probably female).



Figure 56. Second of two OUMNH paralectotypes for *Mantispa indica Westwood*, 1852 (NEUR0005-02, sex undetermined).



Figure 57. OUMNH paralectotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) iridella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0011, female).

18. iridella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (One paralectotype; Fig. 57)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 503;* "(Mas et foem.) [Male and female] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Muss. Brit. et Oxon.".

**Type series.** Westwood's description did not state specifically how many type specimens he had; however, he indicated that he had both a male and a female specimen, and he also indicated two depositories (British Museum and Oxford).

The NHMUK houses a male type (NHMUK011250017), labeled (but not published) in 1968 as the lectotype by R. G. Beard, and subsequently designated as such by Penny (1982b: 431). Also, there is a female type in the OUMNH (NEUR0011, Fig. 57). It bears a "lectoallotype" label, also applied by R. G. Beard in 1968. It is a paralectotype.

Current name. Trichoscelia iridella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** Westwood's subgenus *Trichoscelia* was given genus-level stature by Enderlein (1910: 376); the first use of the current combination probably was by Penny (1982b: 431). It was listed by Ohl (2004: 149) and Ardila-Camacho et al. (2018: 299, 306).

19. mozambica Westwood, 1852 (Mantispa) (Holotype; Fig. 58)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, 6 [1]: 269, *Tab. 18, fig. 6;* "Habitat in Mozambica. In Mus. D. Miers.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.



Figure 58. Holotype of Mantispa mozambica Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0079, male).

**Type series.** Westwood's description did not state specifically how many type specimens he had; the description of the abdomen indicates a male specimen. According to Ohl (2004: Footnote 36), the entire collection of D. Miers was transferred to the OUMNH; however, he did not report seeing the type of *M. mozambica*. Apparently, it was unnoticed for many years.

After a lengthy search, we found a single specimen, a male, with labels indicating that it is the type (NEUR0079, Fig. 58). Other types are unlikely to be found in the collection. Both Ohl (2004: 246) and Oswald (2018) indicate that holotype or syntype assignations are possible. We consider it a holotype.

Current name. Cercomantispa mozambica (Westwood, 1852).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Handschin (1959: 224) and listed by Ohl (2004: 164); the species is the type species of the genus *Cercomantispa* Handschin. Previously, the species also was known as *Mantispa* (*Mantispilla*) mozambica (Westwood) [combination by Enderlein (1910: 346)], *Mantispilla mozambica* (Westwood) [combination by Navás (1914d: 40)], and *Necyla mozambica* (Westwood) [source unknown, perhaps Navás 1915c: 178]. Apparently, the genera *Cercomantispa*, *Necyla*, and *Orientispa* have not been well delineated; additional study is needed (see Snyman et al. 2012).

**20.** *myrapetrella* Westwood, 1867 (*Mantispa*) (Lectotype, new designation; seven paralectotypes; Figs 59, 60, 61)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 505;* "Habitat in nidis vespae [... in the nests of wasps] (*Myrapetrae scutellaris*) Americae meridionalis [South America]. Vide White in Ann. Nat. Hist. vii. P. 322. In Muss. Brit. et Oxon.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood's description designated two depositories – NHMUK and OUMNH. Our less-than-exhaustive search did not find types of this species in the NHMUK.

Eight specimens were found in the OUMNH. One (a male, NEUR0016-01, Fig. 59) carries a lectotype label applied by R. G. Beard in 1968; however, this lectotype designation was not published. The other seven (NEUR0016-02 through NEUR0016-08; Figs 60, 61) carry Beard's paralectotype labels; two are females and the sexes of the others are not confirmed. Later, Penny (1982b: 436) referred to these specimens, but he did not identify a specific specimen to be the lectotype. In his research on mantispids, Penny usually followed the fine information on Beard's labels. Thus, out of respect to both previous workers, here we designate the specimen in the OUMNH (NEUR0016-01) as the lectotype (present designation). The specimen carries no locality data, but it



Figure 59. Lectotype (new designation) of Mantispa myrapetrella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0016-01, male).



Figure 60. One of seven OUMNH paralectotypes for *Mantispa myrapetrella* Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0016-06, female).

has Westwood's, Beard's, and the OUMNH's identification labels. The abdomen of the specimen is held in glycerol in a genitalia vial on a separate pin.

The seven paralectotype specimens lack locality labels, but all have Hope Museum labels and Beard's identification labels similar to those on the lectotype.

Current name. Trichoscelia varia (Walker, 1853).

**Nomenclature.** The synonymy and current combination, *Trichoscelia varia* (Walker), were proposed by McLachlan (1868b: 261). Previously, the species was called *Symphrasis myrapetrella* (Westwood) [combination by Hagen (1877: 210)].

Unfortunately, the type locality, "Americae meridionalis" [South America], refers to a very large area, and neither the lectotype nor any of the paralectotypes carry locality labels. *Trichoscelia varia* is reported from Argentina and Brazil; early records of the species from Suriname and Venezuela are questioned (see Oswald 2018).

21. natalensis Navás, 1914 (Necyla) (Holotype/Syntype; Fig. 62)

**Original description.** *Bol. Soc. Aragonesa Cien. Nat., 1914c, 13: 64;* "Africa meridional. 'Natal, 7–800 ft., near Durban', Mavern' G. A. K. Marshall.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.



**Figure 61.** The seven OUMNH paralectotypes for *Mantispa myrapetrella* Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0016-02 through NEUR0016-08, two females, others unconfirmed).


Figure 62. OUMNH syntype of Necyla natalensis Navás, 1914 (NEUR0026, sex undetermined).

**Type series.** Navás' article (by title) is focused on specimens in the OUMNH, and the description contained in the article gives measurements from one male specimen. The OUMNH holds only one specimen carrying Navás type labels for this species (NEUR0026, Fig. 62). It is unlikely that there are other types, and if this specimen were confirmed as a male, we would identify it as the holotype. However, the sex is now undetermined; so, in agreement with both Ohl (2004: 183) and Oswald (2018), it remains as a syntype, with a holotype assignment possible.

Current name. Afromantispa natalensis Navás, 1914.

Nomenclature. The current combination was proposed by Snyman et al. (2015: 95).

#### 22. nodosa Westwood, 1847 (Mantispa) (Holotype; Fig. 63)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 70, fig. 7; "Inhabits Assam. Dr. Cantor. In Mus. Hope.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood indicated only the OUMNH as a depository, and the collection has only one type specimen. It is a male, with abdomen missing, that carries a label indicating the locality and collector as in the original description. It also has a label



Figure 63. Holotype of Mantispa nodosa Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0020, male).

pointing out its association with the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology and a holotype label applied by R. G. Beard in 1968 (NEUR0020, Fig. 63). Ohl (2004: 172) reported that one or more syntypes may be present. Oswald (2018) called the specimen a holotype (by implicit monotypy), and as evidence of monotypy he cited a report by Shelford (1902: 236) that mentioned one type. At this time, we see no reason to question the holotype determination.

Current name. Euclimacia nodosa (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** Ohl (2004: 172) proposed the current combination; it was subsequently cited by Bhattacharjee et al. (2010: 221–224).

23. partheniella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Lectotype, one paralectotype; Figs 64, 65)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 501;* "(Mas et foem.) [Male and female] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** Although Westwood did not indicate how many type specimens he used, he did mention seeing both a male and a female specimen. Ohl (2004: 147) suggested the possibility of one or more syntypes.

Two specimens are found in the OUMNH: a male (NEUR0006-01, Fig. 64) with a lectotype label, and a female (NEUR0006-02, Fig. 65) with a paralectotype label.



Figure 64. Lectotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) partheniella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0006-01, male).



**Figure 65.** OUMNH paralectotype of *Mantispa* (*Trichoscelia*) *partheniella* Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0006-02, female).

These type labels were applied by R. G. Beard in 1968, but he did not publish the information. However, Penny's (1982b: 421) reference to the "Lectotype male and paralectotype female in the Hope Entomology Collection" served to fix the lectotype designation. Oswald (2018) listed the type as a lectotype (by explicit designation).

Current name. Anchieta partheniella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Penny (1982b: 421) and listed by Ohl (2004: 147). Previously the species was known as *Trichoscelia par-theniella* (Westwood) [generic assignment by Enderlein (1910: 376), but without immediate use of the combination; subsequent use of the combination by Penny (1982b: 421)]. *Anchieta partheniella* (Westwood) became the correct name when the name *An-isoptera* Schneider was identified as a junior homonym of *Anisoptera* Berthold, 1827, and its junior synonym *Anchieta* Navás, 1909 was recognized as the valid generic name (see Penny 1982a: 216–217).

#### 24. quadrituberculata Westwood, 1852 (Mantispa) (One paralectotype; Fig. 66)

Original description. Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond., 6 [1]: 264, tab. 18, fig. 1; "Habitat Northern India. Mus. W. W. Saunders.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Although Westwood did not state the number of specimens in the type series, he provided ranges for the morphological measurements that he made. Thus, clearly there was more than one specimen. Ohl (2004: 160) confirmed seeing a type in the OUMNH; he left open the question of additional syntypes. And, Oswald (2018) indicated that syntypes existed.

We identified two Westwood specimens in the OUMNH; the first one, a female, (NEUR0003, Fig. 66) was long considered to be an *M. quadrituberculata* syntype. R. G. Beard saw this specimen in 1986 and applied a "Lectoallotype Q" label to it. He did not apply a similar label to the second specimen (Fig. 67), nor did Navás identify it as a type. These omissions imply that neither author considered the second specimen, sex undetermined, to be a type. Although it carries a typical diamond-shaped Westwood label, its locality data do not match those given in the original description of *M. quadrituberculata*. Thus, we also do not consider it part of the type series.

**New lectotype designation,** NHMUK specimen. The NHMUK has another type for this species (NHMUK011250015); its labels also confirm it as a syntype. The specimen is on a pin, and the left wings are mounted on a slide with a holotype label (NHMUK010110641). It is likely that Beard saw this specimen; however, surprisingly, it does not carry his lectotype label. We assume from Beard's "Lectotallotype" label on the OUMNH specimen that he regarded the NHMUK specimen as the lectotype, but hesitated to identify it as such perhaps because of the holotype label on the slide. Given our confidence that the specimen in the OUMNH indeed was part of the type series, here we designate the specimen in the NHMUK as the lectotype (present designation). Its labels read: (1) "Type", (2) not clear, (3) "Saunders 68-3", (4) "Mantispa 4-tuberculata Westw.", (5) "Wings in slide cabinet", (6) "NHMUK011250015". And, we confirm Beard's identification of the OUMNH specimen as the paralectotype.



Figure 66. OUMNH paralectotype of Mantispa quadrituberculata Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0003, female).



**Figure 67.** Historic, nontype specimen of *Mantispa quadrituberculata* Westwood, 1852. The specimen, sex undetermined, was studied by Westwood and Navás.

Current name. Austroclimaciella quadrituberculata (Westwood, 1852).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Handschin (1961: 287) and listed by Ohl (2004: 160). Previously, the species was known by a number of names: *Eumantispa quadrituberculata* (Westwood) [combination by Banks (1931: 386); combination used, but not cited as new]; *Ditaxis quadrituberculata* (Westwood) [combination by McLachlan (1868b: 262)]; *Climaciella quadrituberculata* (Westwood) [combination by Enderlein (1910: 361)].

In the original description, the species name was given as "4-tuberculata"; this spelling was changed in compliance with ICZN Article 32.5.2.6.

#### 25. rubellus Navás, 1914 (Campion) (Lectotype, three paralectotypes; Figs 68, 69)

**Original description.** Bol. Soc. Aragonesa Cien. Nat., 1914c, 13: 65, fig. 1; "Australia: 'N. S. W. Sydney. 18 m. S. of 0–100 ft., National Park' 6 Diciembre 1902, J. J. Walker. He visto otro ejemplar  $\bigcirc$  de Australia del Museo de Londres.". [The locality listed is probably near Audley in what is now called Australia's Royal National Park. Established in 1870, it is Australia's first national park, and one of the first in the world (information from Graham Owen, NSW)].

**Type series.** Navás' article, as stated in the title, is focused on specimens in the OUMNH, and from his original description it is clear that he studied at least one male and one female specimen of *C. rubellus* there. He also mentioned a male specimen from Australia in the NHMUK. He did not designate a primary type.



Figure 68. Lectotype of Campion rubellus Navás, 1914 (NEUR0027-01, male).



**Figure 69.** Three OUMNH paralectotypes of *Campion rubellus* Navás, 1914 **a** NEUR0027-02, female **b** NEUR0027-03, male **c** NEUR0027-04, male.

In the OUMNH collection, there are four Navás specimens, two males and two females (Figs 68, 69). All four bear Navás' determination labels; a male and a female also carry Navás' "Typus" labels. In 1968, R. G. Beard applied his lectotype label to the male specimen in the OUMNH that carries a Navás "Typus" label (NEUR0027-01, Fig. 68), but he did not publish this designation. Later, Lambkin (1986b: 14) designated Beard's specimen as the lectotype. The three other Navás syntypes in the OUM-NH (female, NEUR0027-02, Fig. 69a; males, NEUR0027-03, -04, Fig. 69b, c) carry Beard's paralectotype labels and are recognized as such (see New 1996: 30, Oswald 2018). Apparently, Ohl (2004: 163) erred in reporting the types; he reported male and female types from the NHMUK, but none from the OUMNH. Any NHMUK syntypes would be paralectotypes.

**Current name.** *Campion rubellus* Navás, 1914. **Nomenclature.** The name has remained unchanged; it was listed by Ohl (2004: 163).

26. sacra Navás, 1914 (Necyla) (Holotype; Fig. 70)

**Original description.** *Bol. Soc. Aragonesa Cien. Nat.*, *1914c, 13: 63;* "Palestina. Rev. O. P. Cambridge [Rev. O. Pickard-Cambridge], 1865.". Number of specimens not specified.



Figure 70. Holotype of Necyla sacra Navás, 1914 (NEUR0023, male).

**Type series.** Navás' article, as stated in the title, is focused on specimens from the OUMNH. In it, Navás gave measurements for one male *N. sacra* specimen, and he made no mention of other specimens. The collection in the OUMNH has one type specimen, a male with Navás' labels (NEUR0023, Fig. 70). Both Ohl (2004: 194) and Oswald (2018) indicate that a syntype or a holotype assignation is possible. However, to be consistent with other mantispid species treated here (see explanation under *M. fascia-tella*, above) this specimen should be considered the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Necyla sacra Navás, 1914.

Nomenclature. The name has remained unchanged; it was listed by Ohl (2004: 194).

### 27. sequella Westwood, 1867 [Mantispa (Trichoscelia)] (Holotype; Fig. 71)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, *15: 503;* "(Foem.) [Female] ... Habitat in Amazonia. D. Bates. In Mus. Oxon.".

**Type series.** In the original description, Westwood specified only one depository, the OUMNH, and he mentioned only one specimen, a female (NEUR0009, Fig. 71). This specimen is in the collection. Penny (1982b: 435) determined it to be the holotype; subsequently Ohl (2004: 150) listed it as such. Oswald (2018) listed it as the holotype (by explicit monotypy).



Figure 71. Holotype of Mantispa (Trichoscelia) sequella Westwood, 1867 (NEUR0009, female).

Current name. Trichoscelia sequella (Westwood, 1867).

**Nomenclature.** The combination was proposed by Penny (1982b: 435) and subsequently listed by Ohl (2004: 150). The species was previously known as *Trichoscelia sequella* Westwood [generic assignment by Enderlein (1910: 376), but without use of the combination] and *Anisoptera sequella* (Westwood) [generic assignment by Gerstaecker (1887: 117), but without use of the combination].

### 28. simulatrix McLachlan, 1900 (Mantispa) (Holotype; Fig. 72)

**Original description.** *Entomol. Monthly Mag.*, *36:* 127–129, *fig. unnumbered;* "Matang, Borneo, August, 1899. One  $\bigcirc$ . The type may be seen for the present in the Hope Collection, .... It will ultimately be deposited in the Sarawak Museum, to which it belongs.".

**Type series.** McLachlan's original description stated that there was a single type (a female) and that it would be transferred to the Sarawak Museum. However, as reported by Ohl (2004: Footnote 90) and as we confirm here, the specimen (NEUR0071, Fig. 72; holotype, by original designation) remains in the OUMNH. The image (Fig. 72) and its label data clearly match those in the original description. The species' mimicry was discussed, and the adult was illustrated by Shelford (1902: 235, Plate XIX, fig. 23), who originally provided McLachlan with the specimen.



Figure 72. Holotype of *Mantispa simulatrix* McLachlan, 1900 (NEUR0071, female).



**Figure 73.** Lectotype (new designation) of *Mantispa tropica (Mantispa*) Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0021-01, female).

## Current name. Mimetispa simulatrix (McLachlan, 1900).

**Nomenclature.** This species is now the sole member of the genus *Mimetispa* Handschin; the current combination was proposed by Handschin (1961: 276–7) and listed by Ohl (2004: 192). The species also was previously referred to as *Euclimacia simulatrix* (McLachlan) by Banks (1931: 386), without comment. See Handschin (1961: 277) for a full synonymy.

**29.** *tropica* **Westwood**, **1852** (*Mantispa*) (Lectotype, new designation; one paralecto-type; Figs 73, 74)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.*, 6 [1]: 265, tab. 18, fig. 2; "Habitat Africa tropicali occidentali, Gambia. Mus. Westwood.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.



Figure 74. OUMNH paralectotype of Mantispa tropica Westwood, 1852 (NEUR0021-02, sex undetermined).

**Type series.** Ohl (2004: 201) stated that there was one or more syntypes. Two syntypes are in the collection: One, a female (NEUR0021-01, Fig. 73), carries a lectotype label that was applied by R. G. Beard in 1968. The other (NEUR0021-02, Fig. 74, sex unknown) carries a paralectotype label. These designations were not published. Thus, here we confirm Beard's choice of the female NEUR0021-01 as the lectotype (present designation) of *Mantispa tropica* Westwood. The second specimen becomes a paralectotype as labeled.

Current name. Pseudoclimaciella tropica (Westwood, 1852).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Handschin (1960a: 209, 227) and listed by Ohl (2004: 201). Oswald (2018) also lists the species name in two additional combinations: *Mantispilla tropica* (Westwood) and *Necyla tropica* (Westwood). Both of these combinations were used without comment by Handschin (1959: 187); they were not listed by Ohl (2004: 199). Note: When Enderlein (1910: 355) described subgenera for *Mantispa*, he explicitly assigned *M. tropica* to subgenus *Mantispa*, not *Mantispilla*.

#### Myrmeleontidae (Antlions, doodlebugs)

The Myrmeleontidae is the largest and perhaps best-known family of Neuroptera. It contains ~1600 extant species in slightly more than 200 genera, which traditionally have been grouped into three subfamilies. This classification may soon change when recent genetic data are taken into account (Winterton et al. 2018). The larvae are generally considered to be "sit and wait" predators that inhabitat bark, tree holes, debris, or soil. Some species build pit traps in sand to capture their prey. Adults are usually nocturnal, and their flight resembles that of damselflies.

The OUMNH is reported to hold types of 22 myrmeleontid species; we found types for 20, including 16 species with primary types (holotype, syntype, or lectotype) and four species with secondary types only (paratypes or paralectotypes). Types could not be located for two species; both were described by Navás in 1913, but in separate publications. Of the species with primary types in the OUMNH, almost half are syntypes, and there are more holotypes (n = 6) than lectotypes (n = 3). The species with OUMNH types were described by several systematists: nine by Navás, nine by Rambur, two by Kimmins, one by Esben-Petersen, and another by Westwood. Most are from Africa, the East Indies, and Oceania; only one is from the New World. In total, there are 26 type specimens of Myrmeleontidae in the collection.

In his comprehensive catalog of the world's antlions, L. A. Stange provided full taxonomic information for the species described prior to 2001 (Stange 2004). Thus, for most species here, our section on "Nomenclature" provides only the current valid name, the original reference for the source of the current name, and a reference (page number) for the species' full synonymy in Stange's catalog. To search for name changes that occurred after Stange's catalog was published, we used the online Neuroptera catalog (Oswald 2018) and also conducted our own review of recent literature.



Figure 75. Holotype of Acanthaclisis acuta Kimmins, 1939 (NEUR0064-01, male).



Figure 76. OUMNH paratype of Acanthaclisis acuta Kimmins, 1939 (NEUR0064-02, female).

1. acuta Kimmins, 1939 (Acanthaclisis) (Holotype, one paratype; Figs 75, 76)

**Original description.** Ann. Mag. Nat. Hist., 1939: 588, Plate 18, fig. b. "W. AUS-TRALIA: Freemantle, 1879 (*Dr.* Legge), 13, 19. Type 3 in the Hope Department, University Museum, Oxford.".

**Type series.** Kimmins (1939: 588) indicated that there were only two specimens in the type series, and he identified the depository of the male, not the female. We assume that with this action, he intended to designate the male as the primary namebearing specimen. Thus, in agreement with Stange (2004: 352) and Oswald (2018), we consider the specimens in the OUMNH to be a male holotype (by original designation) and a female paratype (NEUR0064-01, -02; Figs 75, 76).

Current name. Heoclisis acuta (Kimmins, 1939).

**Nomenclature.** The current generic assignment was made by New (1985: 57); see Stange (2004: 352).

2. anomalus Rambur, 1842 (Myrmeleon) (Lectotype, new designation; Fig. 77)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 388.* "De la Colombie; collection de M. Marchal.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Stange (2004: 168) reported that the type(s) had not been located. Although there are specimens of this species in the NHMUK, none appears to be a type.



Figure 77. Lectotype (new designation) of *Myrmeleon anomalus* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0053, sex undetermined).

However, there is one specimen labeled as a type (sex undetermined) in the OUMNH (NEUR0053, Fig. 77). To help stabilize the nomenclature associated with this species, and because of the clear identity of the OUMNH specimen (NEUR0053) as Rambur's type, here we designate it as the lectotype (present designation).

Current name. Eremoleon anomalus (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** The current generic assignment was by Stange (1967: 57); also see Stange (2004: 168).

### 3. atomarius Rambur, 1842 (Myrmeleon) (Two syntypes; Figs 78, 79)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 399.* "Habite le Sénégal.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** The original description mentions both male and female features; thus it is clear that the type series contained more than one specimen. Later, McLachlan (1873b: 136) mentioned seeing a female specimen in the Marchal collection at Oxford; he did not see a male. Currently, there are two Rambur syntypes in the OUMNH. Both are labeled as types, both are from Senegal, and both were in the Marchal collection. One (NEUR0062-01, Fig. 78) probably is a female; the sex of the other (NEUR0062-02, Fig. 79) is undetermined.



Figure 78. First of two OUMNH syntypes for *Myrmeleon atomarius* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0062-01, probably female).



**Figure 79.** Second of two OUMNH syntypes for *Myrmeleon atomarius* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0062-02, sex undetermined).

A third syntype of this species is in the NHMUK (NHMUK010288325). It is missing its abdomen, and it is listed under its current genus name, *Myrmecaelurus*. Also, Stange (2004: 267) reported a holotype female in the IRSNB. In the absence of specific information on the specimen in the IRSNB, Stange's report does not constitute a valid lectotype designation. Thus, syntypes of this species are reported from the OUMNH, NHMUK, and IRSNB.

Current name. Myrmecaelurus atomarius (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** The current generic assignment was proposed by Banks (1913b: 154); see Stange (2004: 267).

#### 4. distincta Rambur, 1842 (Acanthaclisis) (Three paralectotypes; Figs 80, 81)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 380.* "Du Sénégal. M. Marchal m'a communiqué une femelle de Maurice, dont la teinte générale est .... [From Senegal. Mr. Marchal has given me a female from Mauritius, whose general color is ....]".

**Type series.** Prost (1998: 162) studied Rambur's specimens in the IRSNB, and from them he designated a lectotype: a male from Senegal with a damaged abdomen, in the "coll. Sélys". It carried a red determination label in Rambur's handwriting. He also noted that he had not found the female specimen from the Isle of Maurice (Mau-



**Figure 80.** One of three OUMNH paralectotypes for *Acanthaclisis distincta* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0059-01, female). Note: This specimen appears to be Rambur's female specimen from Mauritius.

ritius) that Rambur mentioned. Based on the original description, he could not determine whether Rambur included this second Mauritian specimen in the type series, but he was certain that it did not belong to the same species as the other specimens.

Stange (2004: 344) confirmed Prost's report and stated that he had examined the male lectotype in the IRSNB, probably in 1964; he did not mention the female specimen from Mauritius.

Three specimens are in the OUMNH. All three bear a label reading "Maurice", and one of these, a female, bears an identification label in Rambur's handwriting. This specimen appears to be the female that Rambur specifically mentioned in his description; it certainly is a paralectotype (NEUR0059-01, Fig. 80). The other two specimens are very similar in all respects; they also appear to have been part of the type series. We consider them to be paralectotypes (NEUR0059-02, -03; Fig. 81a, b). Their sexes and species identities are undetermined. In addition, four specimens of this species studied by McLachlan are in the NHMUK. Whether Rambur also studied them is unknown at this time.

Current name. Centroclisis distincta (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** The genus name was reassigned by Prost (1998: 164); see Stange (2004: 344).



**Figure 81.** Two of three OUMNH paralectotypes for *Acanthaclisis distincta* Rambur, 1842 **a** NEUR0059-02, sex undetermined **b** NEUR0059-03, sex undetermined.

## 5. excelsus Navás, 1913 (Palparellus) (Holotype; Fig. 82)

**Original description.** *Ann. Soc. sci. Bruxelles, 1913b, 37 (pt. 1): 89, fig. 2.* "Afrique. Un échantillon au musée d'Oxford étiqueté: E. Rhodesia about 3000 ft., Mpudri [Sic!] River, Manica, Capt. Nov.6.01, Guy Marshall.".

**Type series.** Navás stated that he had one specimen, and in the text he referred only to a female. We conclude that the sole type in the OUMNH, a female (NEUR0054, Fig. 82), is the holotype (by explicit monotypy) (in agreement with Stange 2004: 45, Oswald 2018). It was collected in 1901 and presented to the Museum in 1904 by Guy Marshall.



Figure 82. Holotype of Palparellus excelsus Navás, 1913 (NEUR0054, female).

Current name. Palparellus nyassanus (Navás, 1911).

Nomenclature. *Palparellus excelsus* was synonymized under *P. nyassanus* by Mansell (1996: 243); see Stange (2004: 45).

6. interjectus Navás, 1913 (Formicaleo) (Holotype; Fig. 83)

**Original description.** *Mem. R. Acad. Cien. Artes Barcelona, 1913a, (3) 10: 492 (fig. 6).* "Un ejemplar lleva esta rótulo: N. E. Rhodesia, East Loangwa dist. Mterize R. 40 m. S. Petauke, 2500 feet. Capt. Nov. 4. 04 by S. A. Neave.".

**Type series.** Navás mentioned one specimen; he also referred to a female in the text of his description.

One type is in the OUMNH (NEUR0069, Fig. 83); it appears to be a female, and it carries a determination label and a Navás "Typus" label. It is the holotype (by explicit monotypy).

Current name. Distoleon interjectus (Navás, 1913).

Nomenclature. The current combination is by Stange (2014: 155).



Figure 83. Holotype of Formicaleo interjectus Navás, 1913 (NEUR0069, female).

7. isopterus Navás, 1913 (Gymnoleon) (Holotype, not found)

**Original description.** *Mem. R. Acad. Cien. Artes Barcelona, 1913a, (3) 10: 489* "Africa meridional. El rótulo dice: N. W. Rhodesia, Alala Plateau, Mkushi distr., about 4000 ft. 19-IX-1905. S. A. Neave. Un ejemplar (Mus. de Oxford).".

**Type series.** Navás reported that he examined one specimen and that it was in the OUMNH. Stange (2004: 181) listed it as being in the OUMNH, but he did not report seeing a type. Thus far, we have been unable to find the specimen in the collection. If found, it would be a holotype (by explicit monotypy).

Current name. Gymnoleon isopterus Navás, 1913.

Nomenclature. The name has remained unchanged; see Stange 2004: 181.

## 8. loanguana Navás, 1913 (Creagris) (Syntype; Fig. 84)

**Original description.** *Mem. R. Acad. Cien. Artes Barcelona, 1913a, (3) 10: 489.* "N. E. Rhodesia, East Loangwa, Dist. 3–3500 ft., Mbala country, Coll. 13-V-1905, S. A. Neave (Mus. de Oxford).". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Navás did not indicate how many specimens he examined. A single type, sex undetermined, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0066, Fig. 84). In the absence of



Figure 84. OUMNH syntype of Creagris loanguana Navás, 1913 (NEUR0066, sex undetermined).

information on the number of specimens Navás studied, we consider this specimen to be a syntype. No lectotype has been designated.

Current name. Creoleon loanguanus (Navás, 1913).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Stange (2004: 139, as *loanguana*).

9. mozambicus Navás, 1913 (Nelees) (One syntype; Fig. 85)

**Original description.** *Mem. R. Acad. Cien. Artes Barcelona, 1913a, (3) 10: 490.* "Africa Oriental portuguesa. Beira, 17 Septiembre de 1905.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** One type, a female, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0067, Fig. 85a, b). Because there is no evidence that this was Navás' only specimen, we consider it a syntype. No lectotype has been designated.

Current name. Neuroleon mozambicus (Navás, 1913).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was offered by Stange (2004: 207); it is listed as *Neuroleon (Neuroleon) mozambicus* (Navás, 1913) by Oswald (2018).



Figure 85. OUMNH syntype of Nelees mozambicus Navás, 1913 (NEUR0067, female) a dorsal b ventral.

10. neavinus Navás, 1913 (Formicaleo) (Lectotype; Fig. 86)

**Original description.** *Mem. R. Acad. Cien. Artes Barcelona, 1913a, (3) 10: 491.* "N. E. Rhodesia, Fort Jameson 3800 ft, 1-IV-1904, S. A. Neave (Mus. de Oxford).". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Only one depository (OUMNH) is mentioned for this species, and only one specimen, sex undetermined, is present (NEUR0068, Fig. 86). We could find no other evidence for monotypy either in the original description or elsewhere.



Figure 86. Lectotype (new designation) of Formicaleo neavinus Navás, 1913 (NEUR0068, sex undetermined).

Thus, contrary to Stange (2004: 157) who identified the specimen as the holotype, and consistent with the manner that we have treated other specimens here, we consider the specimen to be a syntype. Stange's identification of the specimen as the holotype fixes it as the lectotype (ICZN Article 74.7).

**Current name.** *Distoleon neavinus* (Navás, 1913). **Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Stange (2004: 157).

11. notatus Rambur, 1842 (Myrmeleon) (Two syntypes; Figs 87, 88)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 402.* "Je l'ai pris dans les environs de Malaga, et M. Marchal me l'a communiqué du Sénégal.".

**Type series.** Rambur mentioned two localities (Senegal and Málaga), but whether specimens were collected from both is unclear. McLachlan (1873b: 137) reported seeing three types: "J'en ai vu trois types, dont l'un m'a été envoyé par M. de Sélys, et ne porte point d'étiquette de la localité (probablement de Malaga), les autres sont dans la collection Marchal, et sont indiqués comme du Sénégal. [I saw three types, one of which was sent to me by M. de Sélys and bears no locality label (probably from Málaga), the others are in the Marchal collection and identified as from Senegal.]". Thus, it appears that the description was based on specimens from both Senegal and Málaga.



Figure 87. First of two OUMNH syntypes for *Myrmeleon notatus* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0060-01, sex undetermined).



Figure 88. Second of two OUMNH syntypes for *Myrmeleon notatus* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0060-02, sex undetermined).

The OUMNH holds the two syntypes (sexes unconfirmed) of this species that McLachlan reported from the Marchal Collection (NEUR0060-01, -02; Figs 87, 88). Both carry labels reading "Senegal", and both bear identification labels in Rambur's handwriting. We did not find the third type. Several specimens of this species are in the NHMUK, but none are identified as types.

Current name. Nemoleon notatus (Rambur, 1842).

Nomenclature. The current combination was offered by Stange (2004: 118).

## 12. nycterinus Navás, 1913 (Palparidius) (Holotype; Fig. 89)

**Original description.** Ann. Soc. sci. Bruxelles, 1913b, 37 (pt. 1): 90 (fig. 3). "Zambèse. O. R. C. à 20 milles au-dessus du fleuve Orange, Station Baviaan Krantz, capturé à la lumière, 20 février 1905, F. B. Parkinson (Mus. d'Oxford)."; Footnote: "Le bout de l'abdomen manque. [The end of the abdomen is missing.]". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** The description contains measurements for one specimen and a footnote that implies Navás worked with one specimen from which the tip of the abdomen was missing. There is one type in the OUMNH (NEUR0055, Fig. 89), and the distal segments of its abdomen are missing (sex undetermined). We concur with Stange (2004: 36); it is a holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Palparidius capicola Péringuey, 1910.

**Nomenclature.** Stange (2004: 36) and Oswald (2018) listed the synonymy without comment or reference. We did not find a reference for it elsewhere.



Figure 89. Holotype of Palparidius nycterinus Navás, 1913 (NEUR0055, sex undetermined).



Figure 90. First of two OUMNH syntypes of *Myrmeleon obscurus* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0061-1, sex undetermined).



Figure 91. Second of two OUMNH syntypes of *Myrmeleon obscurus* Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0061-2, sex undetermined).

### 13. obscurus Rambur, 1842 (Myrmeleon) (Two syntypes; Figs 90, 91)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 403.* "Habite l'Île Maurice; communiqué par M. Marchal.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Rambur did not indicate how many specimens he had. Stange (2004: 333) apparently did not see types for this species and questioned whether there were any in the IRSNB.

Two syntypes, sexes undetermined, are in the OUMNH; both are in fair condition and missing the distal segments of their abdomens (NEUR0061-01, -02; Figs 90, 91). Specimens of this species are also present in the NHMUK, but we did not identify any that would be considered types.

Current name. Myrmeleon obscurus Rambur, 1842.

Nomenclature. The original name has remained unchanged; see Stange (2004: 333).

14. pardus Rambur, 1842 (Palpares) (One syntype; Fig. 92)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 375.* "De Bombay.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Rambur mentioned features of both male and female specimens; thus it is clear that the type series had at least two specimens. Stange (2004: 40) indicated that he had seen male and female syntypes in the IRSNB, but he did not mention any types for this species in collections elsewhere. We found one Rambur type, sex undetermined, in the OUMNH (NEUR0051, Fig. 92) that we consider to be a syntype. In



Figure 92. OUMNH syntype of Palpares pardus Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0051, sex undetermined).

addition, numerous specimens are in the NHMUK, including several that are labeled as types (two with numbers NHMUK010288083, NHMUK010288084). Their type status should be examined before a lectotype is designated.

Current name: Indopalpares pardus (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** The genus name was reassigned by Insom and Carfi (1988: 77); see Stange (2004: 40).

#### 15. poultoni Navás, 1913 (Cymothales) (Holotype, not found)

**Original description.** Ann. Soc. sci. Bruxelles, 1913b, 91 (pt. 1): 91 (fig. 4). "N. 2. Rhodesia, East Loangwa, Dist. 2400 feet, Petauke. 23 mars 1905, S. A. Neave, coll. (Mus. d'Oxford).". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Navás did not mention explicitly how many specimens he used to prepare his original description. However, he noted only one depository, the OUMNH, and he provided measurements for only one specimen. Thus, Mansell (1987: 203) considered that Navás' description was based on a single type, the holotype. In any case, Mansell and we were unable to find a type for this species.

In an article that he wrote a year later, Navás (1914a: 113) referred to a specimen in the NHMUK as follows: "He visto otro ejemplar  $\eth$  algo diferente del tipo un poco más obscuro. [I have seen another male specimen differing from the somewhat darker type.]". Mansell (1987: 204) studied this specimen, a female labeled as a "cotype"; he reported that it and other specimens in the NHMUK identified by Navás have been useful in facilitating identification of the species. We suggest that one of these specimens be considered for designation as a neotype.

Current name. Cymothales poultoni Navás, 1913.

**Nomenclature.** The name of this species has not changed; see Mansell (1987: 203) and Stange (2004: 82).

#### 16. pulchellus Rambur, 1842 (Myrmeleon) (Holotype; Fig. 93)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 408.* "D'après un individu en assez nauvais état, venant de la Nouvelle-Hollande.".

**Type series.** Rambur's original description referred to a single specimen in rather poor condition; it did not indicate a sex or a depository. New (1985: 33) listed the "Types" as "?Paris, not seen". Later, Stange (2004: 105) also listed the MNHN as the depository for the type of this species, but he did not report having seen it there, and neither did Miller and Stange (2012: 14). According to R. J. P. Machado (personal communication), the IRSNB reported a specimen that was considered the type. He examined an image of the specimen sent to him from the IRSNB and determined that it is not the type. It carries labels indicating that it was not associated with Rambur.



Figure 93. Holotype of Myrmeleon pulchellus Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0058, male).

One specimen in the Hope Collection (NEUR0058, Fig. 93), a male, carries Rambur's labels and is identified as a type. We consider it to be the *M. pulchellus* holotype (by explicit monotypy). The abdomen is damaged, and some legs are missing.

It is noteworthy that the NHMUK has a number of old *M. pulchellus* specimens from Australia (at least one with a Saunders label and some with McLachlan labels, including one with NHMUK catalog number NHMUK011250010). However, we could not confirm that Rambur had seen any of these specimens, and because he specifically mentioned only one specimen, we do not consider them to be part of the type series.

Current name. Glenoleon pulchellus (Rambur, 1842).

**Nomenclature.** The generic reassignment was made by Banks (1913a: 224); also see Stange (2004: 105), Miller and Stange (2012: 14).

#### 17. pulchellus Esben-Petersen, 1922 (Palpares) (One paralectotype; Fig. 94)

**Original description.** Ann. Mag. Nat. Hist., 10: 618, fig. 2; "13, 1 $\bigcirc$ , Deelfontein, South Africa (*Col. Sloggett*, 1903-109). Besides these two specimens, I have seen another specimen (head and abdomen lost) from Orange River Colony, 20 m. above Orange River Station, Baviaan Krantz, 20<sup>th</sup> Jan., 1905 (at light) (*F. B. Parkinson* leg.).". The caption on fig. 2 reads "... (from Baviaan Krantz: Oxford University Museum).".



Figure 94. OUMNH paralectotype of *Palpares pulchellus* Esben-Petersen, 1922 (NEUR0076, sex undetermined).

**Type series.** The description indicates that three specimens from two localities were in the type series; Esben-Petersen did not specify in his description which one he considered to be the holotype. Two of the types, the male and female from Deelfontein, South Africa, are in the NHMUK. Mansell (1996: 249) identified the male, which bears a "TYPE" label, as the holotype, and the female, which carries a "COTYPE" label, as a paratype (also see Stange 2004: 46). Given the information above, it appears that ICZN Article 74.5 applies in this case, and Mansell's identification of the male in the NHMUK as the holotype fixes it as the lectotype. This type status is listed (with question) as such by Oswald (2018). The female specimen in the NHMUK is now a paralectotype.

We also found in the OUMNH the damaged specimen that Esben-Petersen reported from Orange River Colony and whose wings were shown in Fig. 2 of the original description (head and abdomen missing, sex undetermined). It was collected in 1905 and presented to Esben-Petersen in 1906; it carries labels that probably were applied as temporary labels early in his study. One of these labels states that the specimen is not the type. Clearly, however, from its inclusion with a figure in the original description, this specimen (NEUR0076, Fig. 94) was part of the type series. It is a paralectotype.

Current name. Palparellus pulchellus (Esben-Petersen, 1922).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was offered by Mansell (1996: 248); see Stange (2004: 46).

#### 18. punctulatus Rambur, 1842 (Myrmeleon) (One syntype; Fig. 95)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 405.* "Communique par M. Marchal, et indiqué du Bengale.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Navás (1914b: 198) identified a specimen (with abdomen missing) in the MNHN that he thought might be the Rambur type. However, the presence of this specimen has not been confirmed, and Stange (2004: 291) stated that he had not located it in the collection.

A Rambur type with abdomen missing (sex undetermined) is in the OUMNH (NEUR0057, Fig. 95). It is from Bengal, and the identification label is consistent with Rambur's handwriting.

Also, the NHMUK houses two specimens (NHMUK011250011, NHMUK011250012) with labels reading "Ind" and "E. Ind". However, because there is no indication that Rambur saw these specimens, they do not appear to be types. We know of no published holotype identification or lectotype designation for this species. For now, until the MNHN and the NHMUK are searched thoroughly, the OUMNH specimen remains as the only confirmed syntype.

Current name. Cueta punctulata (Rambur, 1842).

Nomenclature. The generic name was reassigned by Navás (1914b: 198); see Stange (2004: 291).



Figure 95. OUMNH syntype of Myrmeleon punctulatus Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0057, sex undetermined).

### 19. rhodesicus Navás, 1913 (Gymnoleon) (Holotype; Fig. 96)

**Original description.** *Mem. R. Acad. Cien. Artes Barcelona, 1913a, (3) 10: 488* "El rótulo resa: N. W. Rhodesia, Alala Plateau, Mkushi distr., about 4000 ft. Coll. 19-IX-1905 by S. A. Neave.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Although Navás did not state specifically how many specimens he examined, his reference to a "label" (singular) implies that he had only one. One specimen, sex undetermined, is present in the OUMNH (NEUR0065, Fig. 96), and we consider it to be the holotype (by implicit monotypy). Its locality label conforms with the type locality, and it carries Navás' identification and type labels.

Current name. Gymnoleon rhodesicus Navás, 1913.

Nomenclature. The original name has remained unchanged; see Stange (2004: 181).

### 20. singulare Westwood, 1847 (Myrmeleon) (Lectotype, new designation; Fig. 97)

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 70, Plate 34, fig. 4. "Inhabits the East Indies. In the Collection of the Linnaean Society and Capt. Boys.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood did not mention how many specimens he had. Stange (2004: 92) suggested that the type was in the OUMNH, but he did not indicate that he had seen it.

A Westwood type (male), bearing labels in Westwood's handwriting with data that are consistent with the original description, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0056, Fig. 97). Its labels also indicate an association with the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology and the collection of Captain Boys. There is another potential syntype (NHMUK011250009) in the NHMUK; it bears a Westwood identification label and a Saunders label. However, its status as a type is not as well supported as that of the OUMNH type. Given the clarity of the data associated with the OUMNH specimen (NEUR0056), here we designate it as the lectotype (present designation).

Current name. Indoclystus singularis (Westwood, 1847).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination is by Banks (1941: 3); cited by Stange (2004: 92, as *singulare*) and Oswald (2018, as *singularis*).

The original specific name was "*singulare*" (Latin, third declension, neuter) in gender agreement with the genus name when most early systematists (e.g., Linnaeus, Fabricius, and also Westwood) treated *Myrmeleon* as neuter. Other, mostly later, authors (e.g., Walker 1853: 399, Banks 1941: 3, New 1985: 3, Ghosh 2000: 75) identified the genus name *Myrmeleon* as masculine and used the masculine "*singularis*". The genus name *Indoclystus* also is masculine; thus, the species name *singularis* is in agreement.



Figure 96. Holotype of Gymnoleon rhodesicus Navás, 1913 (NEUR0065, sex undetermined).



Figure 97. Lectotype (new designation) of Myrmeleon singulare Westwood, 1847 (NEUR0056, male).

#### 21. tessellatus Rambur, 1842 (Palpares) (One paralectotype; Fig. 98)

**Original description.** *Libr. encycl. Roret, 1842: 375.* "Du Sénégal. La femelle communiqué par Marchal.".

**Type series.** Rambur specifically mentioned seeing at least two specimens, a male and a female. The female (from Senegal) was given to him by Marchal; this specimen is in the OUMNH (NEUR0052, Fig. 98). In addition, several other syntypes that Rambur studied have been found. Prost (1995: 97) listed four specimens in the IRSNB; he designated one of them (a male) as the lectotype. He also mentioned the specimen in the OUMNH. Stange (2004: 58, as *tesellatus*) cited the lectotype designation, but he did not indicate that he had seen the specimen. We also found two other types in the NHMUK collection (NHMUK10288072, NHMUK10288073); they too are now paralectotypes.

Current name. Palpares percheronii (Guérin-Méneville, 1831).

**Nomenclature.** The species was synonymized by Fraser (1950: 115, as *P. tessela-tus* and *P. percheroni*, both incorrect subsequent spellings); it was confirmed by Prost (1995: 96) but with the priority reversed, because he believed that the publication of the pages containing the *P. percheronii* description had been delayed until 1844. However, Stange (2004: 59, as *tesellatus*) indicated that the earlier publication date (1831) of Fig. 62 under the species' name *Myrmeleon percheronii* has precedence over the publication date of the description. And, thus *P. percheronii*, with its publication date of 1831 has priority over *P. tessellatus* Rambur, 1842.

It should be noted that at least two subsequent misspellings are associated with this species name: *tesselatus* by Fraser (1950: 115) and *tesellatus* by Stange (2004: 59).



Figure 98. OUMNH paralectotype of Palpares tessellatus Rambur, 1842 (NEUR0052, female).



Figure 99. OUMNH paratype of Acanthaclisis tillyardi Kimmins, 1939 (NEUR0063, female).

# 22. tillyardi Kimmins, 1939 (Acanthaclisis) (One paratype; Fig. 99)

**Original description.** Ann. Mag. Nat. Hist., 1939: 588, Plate 19, Fig. b. "W. AUS-TRALIA: type  $\Im$ , Yanchep, 32 miles N. of Perth, 9–23. i. 36 (*Miss Raymond*), in the British Museum; paratype  $\Im$ , Swan River, in the Hope Department, University Museum, Oxford.".

**Type series.** The holotype (by original designation) is in the NHMUK (Stange 2004: 353); it is reported in the NHMUK Database (NHMUK010288462). Kimmins' paratype female is in the OUMNH (NEUR0063, Fig. 99).

Current name. Heoclisis tillyardi (Kimmins, 1939).

**Nomenclature.** The current generic assignment was made by New (1985: 56); see Stange (2004: 168).

## Nemopteridae (Spoon-winged or thread-winged lacewings)

This relatively small family (~150 described species) contains adults with highly modified and striking hindwings and equally remarkable larvae with extreme thoracic elongation. Nemopterids are restricted to arid desert and dry tropical regions of northern and southern Africa, southern Europe, the Middle East, southern Asia, Australia, and southern South America (Tjeder 1967, Hölzel 1975). Currently, the family contains two distinct lineages, which are represented by two subfamilies, Nemopterinae and Crocinae. Comprehensive systematic studies of the group are those by Tjeder (1967) on the rich fauna of southern Africa, and Hölzel (1975) on the Crocinae. In our treatment here, we provide current nomenclatural information, and we cite (but do not repeat) the synonymies of the species included in the above works.

The OUMNH holds primary types for all seven nemopterid species reported to have types in the collection (three with holotypes, one with a lectotype, and three with syntypes). The specimens include representatives from both subfamilies. All but two of the species were described by Westwood; Navás and Withycombe each described one.

# 1. albostigma Westwood, 1874 (Nemoptera, as "albo-stigma") (Holotype; Figs 100, 101)

**Original description.** Thesaurus Entomologicus Oxoniensis; or, illustrations of new, rare, and interesting insects, for the most part contained in the collections presented to the University of Oxford by the Rev. F. W. Hope .... Clarendon Press, Oxford, p. 179, Plate XXXIII (= 33), fig. 7. "Africa australior, Terra Zoolu. In Mus. Hopeiano Oxoniae.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** One type, probably a male, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0031, Figs 100, 101). It carries a locality label reading "Zulu", as in the original description, and an identification label by L. Navás with the name "*Halter albostigma* Westw."



Figure 100. Holotype of Nemoptera albostigma Westwood, 1874 (NEUR0031, probably male).


Figure 101. Holotype of Nemoptera albostigma Westwood, 1874 (NEUR0031, probably male).

Because only one depository is mentioned in the original description and this specimen is the only type of this species in the collection, we consider it to be the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

**Current name.** *Halter albostigma* (Westwood, 1874). **Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by Kirby (1900: 459).

#### 2. angulata Westwood, 1836 (Nemoptera) (Holotype; Fig. 102)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond., 1:* lxxv [= 75]. "Cape of Good Hope.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Westwood's original description consists of a very brief note of three lines from an exhibit at the Entomological Society of London. This description of *N. angulata* follows a similarly abbreviated description of *Nemoptera costalis* Westwood, and it ends with the question "(An mas praecedentis?) [Is it a male of the former?]". Thus, it appears that Westwood had one male specimen of *N. angulata*, and that he was not certain if the species differed from *N. costalis*.

Later, Tjeder (1967: 446) declared that the two species are distinct, and he redescribed them both. Although he did not examine the type specimen of *N. angulata*, he had a photograph of it that he compared with other material from Cape Province. He identified Westwood's specimen of *N. angulata* in the OUMNH, a male, as the



Figure 102. Holotype of Nemoptera angulata Westwood, 1836 (NEUR0030, male).

holotype. The specimen (NEUR0030, Fig. 102) is the only type of this species in the collection, and we have no reason to alter Tjeder's determination of it as the holotype. Oswald (2018) lists it as the holotype (by implicit monotypy).

Current name. Nemia angulata (Westwood, 1836).

**Nomenclature.** Several authors after Westwood considered *N. angulata* and *N. costalis* to be synonymous. A full synonymy and the first use of the current combination were published by Tjeder (1967: 442–443, 446); also listed by Mansell (2000: 174).

# 3. costalis Westwood, 1836 (Nemoptera) (Holotype; Fig. 103)

**Original description.** *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond., 1:* lxxv [= 75]. "Cape of Good Hope.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Neither Westwood's very brief original description nor his later redescription (Westwood 1874: 179) provides specific information on the number of types that he studied. However, they do offer some evidence that supports Tjeder's (1967: 443) identification of the single specimen in the OUMNH (NEUR0029, Fig. 103) as the holotype. First, Westwood's redescription of *N. costalis* cites only one depository, "Mus. Hopeiano Oxoniae". Second, his question concerning the identity of the *N. angulata* male (see above) implies that he had no males of *N. costalis*. As a consequence, Tjeder's identification of the type in the OUMNH as a female supports its status as the holotype. Given the absence of other *N. costalis* types in the collection, we see no reason to alter the holotype determination. Oswald (2018) also lists it as the holotype (by implicit monotypy).



Figure 103. Holotype of Nemoptera costalis Westwood, 1836 (NEUR0029, female).

Current name. Nemia costalis (Westwood, 1836).

**Nomenclature.** The first use of the combination was by Navás (1915b: 36). Several authors identified the holotype of this species and the holotype of *N. angulata* Westwood to be a male and female of the same species (see above), but Tjeder (1967: 442–444) redescribed each as fully distinct species.

### 4. filipennis Westwood, 1841 (Nematoptera) (One syntype; Fig. 104)

**Original description.** *Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond.*, *9: 13.* "Habitat in India orientali. In Mus. D. W. W. Saunders, F.L.S., &cc.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Although Westwood's very brief original description carried no mention of the number of specimens he had, his use of the term "&c" after the Saunders collection implies that in addition to the one in the OUMNH, types may exist elsewhere. His slightly fuller redescription later (Westwood 1848: 70, as "*Nemoptera*") indicated two depositories, "the Collections of Col. Hearsey and Mr. Hope." Hölzel (1975: 60) reported the "Holotypus in Mus. Oxford, nicht gesehen [not seen]".

A single syntype, sex undetermined, is in the OUMNH (NEUR0033, Fig. 104). No lectotype has been designated.

Current name. Croce filipennis (Westwood, 1841).

or Man 10 mm TYPE WESTWOOD Cab. Or. Ent: fig. 6. Coll. Hope Oxon. Neuchlus filipening Gl. a. at me theth TYPENeur. No. 33 Nemostera. ilipennis Jes N. HOPE DEPT.OXFORD

Figure 104. OUMNH syntype of Nematoptera filipennis Westwood, 1841 (NEUR0033, sex undetermined).

**Nomenclature.** The current combination was proposed by McLachlan (1885: 378). The species was also listed by Oswald (2018) as *Himantopterus filipennis* (Westwood), but we did not find a citation in support of this name. See a list of synonymies by Hölzel (1975: 60, as *Croce*).

## 5. hebraica Westwood, 1874 (Nemoptera) (One syntype; Fig. 105)

**Original description.** Thesaurus Entomologicus Oxoniensis; or, illustrations of new, rare, and interesting insects, for the most part contained in the collections presented to the University of Oxford by the Rev. F. W. Hope ... . Clarendon Press, Oxford. P. 178, Plate XXXIII = 330, fig. 5. "Northern Palestine. 'Flying in a swamp among papyrus, near the waters of Merom, forming the first basin of the River Jordan,' – Rev. D. D. Holland and Pickard Cambridge [O. Pickard-Cambridge]. In Mus. Hopeiano Oxoniae.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified.

**Type series.** Currently, there is one type, probably a male, in the OUMNH (NEUR0032, Fig. 105). In the absence of information concerning the number of specimens in the type series, we consider it a syntype. The specimen carries an identification label by L. Navás with the name "*Nemoptera aegyptiaca* Ramb.".

Current name. Nemoptera aegyptiaca Rambur, 1842.

**Nomenclature.** The synonymy between *N. hebraica* and *N. aegyptiaca* was suspected in the original description (Westwood 1874: 178), confirmed by McLachlan (1885: 379), and listed by Navás (1910: 357).



Figure 105. OUMNH syntype of Nemoptera hebraica Westwood, 1874 (NEUR0032, probably male).



Figure 106. Lectotype of Croce lawi Navás, 1913 (NEUR0034, female).

6. lawi Navás, 1913 (Croce) (Lectotype; Fig. 106)

**Original description.** Ann. Soc. sci. Bruxelles, 37 (pt. 1) [1913b]: 87, fig. 1. "Afrique, Zambèse. Above O. River. Station Raviaan Krantz, 6 févr., 1906 (Mus. d'Oxford).".

**Type series.** Navás mentioned a female, but he did not state how many specimens he studied. Tjeder (1967: 329) designated the single specimen (a female) in the OUMNH as the lectotype (NEUR0034, Fig. 106). He also discussed inaccuracies in Navás' report of the type locality (Tjeder 1967: 330).

Current name. Laurhervasia setacea (Klug, 1838).

**Nomenclature.** The synonymy, current combination, and history of name changes are found in Tjeder (1967: 325–6, 329).

7. storeyi Withycombe, 1923 (Pterocroce) (Two syntypes; Figs 107, 108)

Original description. Entomol., 56: 141. "Hab. - Cairo, Egypt.".

**Type series.** The extremely brief original description, which mentioned both male and female specimens, soon was followed by a more detailed redescription (Withycombe 1923–1924: 277). This later article mentions: a "Type  $\Im$ " and a "Type  $\Im$ " in the NHMUK, a male "paratype" and a female "paratype" in the Oxford Collection, and a male "paratype" and a female "paratype" in Withycombe's personal collection (total of six specimens). It



Figure 107. First of two OUMNH syntypes for Pterocroce storeyi Withycombe, 1923 (NEUR0035-01, male).

is clear that Withycombe regarded two specific types in the NHMUK as the primary types; however, he did not specify which should be the name-bearing type, the male or the female. Indeed, his entire article treats male and female specimens in a balanced manner.



Figure 108. Second of two OUMNH syntypes for *Pterocroce storeyi* Withycombe, 1923 (NEUR0035-02, female).

Withycombe's identification of two specimens as "Type" precludes the application of ICZN Article 74.5, and all of the specimens he used in his type series remain as syntypes -- including the four specimens mentioned in the original description as "paratypes", and any additional adult or larval specimens that can be shown to have been included as part of the type series (ICZN Article 73.2). Thus, at this time, the two specimens in the OUMNH (a male with abdomen missing, NEUR0035-01, Fig. 107; and a female, NEUR0035-02, Fig. 108) are considered to be syntypes.

Note: All of the adult specimens that Withycombe studied were reared from fieldcollected larvae; the larvae also were described in the second article (Withycombe 1923–1924: 279). No mention is made of whether he preserved any larval specimens.

Current name. Necrophylus arenarius Roux, 1833.

**Nomenclature.** The original name was synonymized with *Pterocroce capillaris* (Klug) by Hölzel (1975: 80) and subsequently synonymized with *Necrophylus arenarius* Roux by Monserrat (2008: 20).

#### Raphidioptera

#### Raphidiidae (Snakeflies)

The Raphidiidae is one of two families that comprise the order Raphidioptera. The entire order is small (~250 species), and its distribution and fossil record indicate that

it is a relictual group. The family Raphidiidae is restricted to woodland habitats in the northern hemisphere, with species having quite limited distributions, largely within cool climates (Aspöck and Aspöck 2009: 864).

Both adults and larvae of this group are predaceous. Larvae are terrestrial and live beneath bark or in the soil. Little is known of their feeding habits and other biological traits.

The OUMNH houses the lectotype and paralectotype of one snakefly species. The species was described by Navás.

1. bagnalli Navás, 1914 (Agulla) (Lectotype, paralectotype; Figs 109, 110)

**Original description.** *Bol. Soc. Aragonesa Cienc. Nat., 1914c, 13: 67–68, fig. 2.* "Oceania: 'Vancouver J. [I.?], Victoria, B. C. 1894–97,' Dr. E. Crompton (Mus. De Oxtord [Oxford]).".

**Type series.** In his original description, Navás mentioned male and female features. Two types (male and female) are in the collection, each with a type label in Navás' handwriting and his determination label with either a male or female symbol. He did not specify which was to be the name-bearing type. The genitalia of both specimens are dissected and held in microvials with glycerol.

Carpenter (1936: 128) referred to the *A. bagnalli* type twice: (i) On page 127, he listed it as "*Holotype* ( $\mathcal{Q}$ ). -- ...". (ii) Then, on page 128, it appears that he mistakenly assumed that Navás had only one specimen, a male, and his discussion refers only to the male specimen or the male type. Thus, with regard to name-bearing status, Carpenter



Figure 109. Lectotype of Agulla bagnalli Navás, 1914 (NEUR0028-01, male).



Figure 110. OUMNH paralectotype of Agulla bagnalli Navás, 1914 (NEUR0028-02, female).

did not explicitly distinguish between the male and the female specimens. Subsequently, Penny et al. (1997: 90) referred to the "Holotype male: ... (Oxford)". This statement fixes the male type in the OUMNH (NEUR0028-01, Fig. 109) as the lectotype (ICZN Article 74.5); the female becomes a paralectotype (NEUR0028-02, Fig. 110).

Current name. Agulla (Agulla) assimilis (Albarda, 1891).

**Nomenclature.** Shortly after his description was published, Navás (1917: 26) realized that the type locality of *A. bagnalli* was not in Oceania, but in Victoria, Vancouver Island, British Columbia. As a result, he then synonymized this species with *Agulla assimilis* (Albarda), a species that typically occurs in British Columbia [see Carpenter (1936: 128), Penny et al. (1997: 90)].

### Acknowledgements

First, we thank two people from the OUMNH: Katherine L. Child for her patience, skill, and persistence in photographing and preparing all the images presented here, and Amo D. Spooner, Collections Manager for the Neuroptera, for her invaluable help in locating types within the collection and providing information. We also greatly appreciate the help of Ben W. Price in facilitating access to specimens and providing information about types in the NHMUK collection. Next, special thanks

to Roberto A. Pantaleoni, whose careful reading and freely offered and helpful suggestions resulted in many improvements to the paper. We acknowledge Jean Legrand for his generous help during visits to the MNHN; we also acknowledge Lionel A. Stange (Florida State Collection of Arthropods), Renato J. P. Machado (Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, Cuiabá, Brazil), and Atilano Contreras-Ramos, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, for sharing information on neuropteridan types and offering their thoughtful comments. We thank John D. Oswald and Texas A&M University for developing and hosting the Lacewing Digital Library website. Without this asset, especially the Species Catalog and the Bibliography, our project would have taken countless more hours to complete than it did. The staff in the Interlibrary Loan Department at Shields Library, University of California, Davis, helped considerably with our search for early literature. The systematic work of CAT continues to benefit from earlier support supplied by the National Science Foundation, the NRI-USDA Competitive Grants Program, the National Geographic Society, Western Regional Project W-4185, and Cornell University.

## References

- Ardila-Camacho A, García A (2015) Mantidflies of Colombia (Neuroptera, Mantispidae). Zootaxa 3937: 401–455. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3937.3.1
- Ardila-Camacho A, Calle Tobón A, Wolff M, Stange LA (2018) New species and new distributional records of Neotropical Mantispidae (Insecta: Neuroptera). Zootaxa 4413: 295–324. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4413.2.4
- Aspöck H (1963) Zwei für Mitteleuropa neue Arten des Genus *Kimminsia* Kill. (Neuroptera, Hemerobiidae). Nachrichtenblatt der Bayerischen Entomologen 12: 53–56.
- Aspöck H, Aspöck U, Hölzel H (1980) Die Neuropteren Europas. 2 vols. Goecke and Evers, Krefeld, West Germany, [v. 1:] 495 pp., [v. 2:] 355 pp.
- Aspöck H, Hölzel H, Aspöck U (2001) Kommentierter Katalog der Neuropterida (Insecta: Raphidioptera, Megaloptera, Neuroptera) der Westpaläarktis. Denisia 2: 1–606.
- Aspöck U, Aspöck H (2009) Raphidioptera (Snakeflies). In: Resh VH, Cardé RT (Eds) Encyclopedia of Insects, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam/San Diego, 864–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374144-8.00226-5
- Badano D, Aspöck U, Aspöck H, Cerretti P (2016) Phylogeny of Myrmeleontiformia based on larval morphology (Neuropterida: Neuroptera). Systematic Entomology 42: 94–117.
- Banks N (1907) Catalogue of the neuropteroid insects (except Odonata) of the United States. American Entomological Society, Philadelphia, 53 pp.
- Banks N (1913a) Synopses and descriptions of exotic Neuroptera. Transactions of the American Entomological Society 39: 201–242.
- Banks N (1913b) Notes on African Myrmeleonidae. Journal of the New York Entomological Society 21: 149–157.
- Banks N (1931) Some neuropteroid insects from the Malay Peninsula. Journal of the Federated Malay States Museums 16: 377–409.

- Banks N (1934) Supplementary neuropteroid insects from the Malay Peninsula, and from Mt. Kinabalu, Borneo. Journal of the Federated Malay States Museums 17: 567–578.
- Banks N (1939) New genera and species of neuropteroid insects. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology 85: 439–504.
- Banks N (1941) Some new and interesting Neuroptera in the American Museum of Natural History. American Museum Novitates 1143: 1–5.
- Bhattacharjee S, Ohl M, Saha S, Sarkar S, Raychaudhuri D (2010) Euclimacia nodosa (Westwood, 1847), a rare and poorly known species of Mantispidae (Neuroptera), recorded for the first time from West Bengal, India. Zoosystematics and Evolution 86: 221–224. https://doi.org/10.1002/zoos.201000004
- Brauer F (1867) Beitrag zur Kenntniss der Mantispiden-Gattungen. Verhandlungen der Kaiserlich-Königlichen Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 17: 281–286.
- Brooks SJ (1994) A taxonomic review of the common green lacewing genus *Chrysoperla* (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae). Bulletin of the Natural History Museum, Entomology 63: 137–210.
- Brooks SJ, Barnard PC (1990) The green lacewings of the world: a generic review (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae). Bulletin of the British Museum of Natural History, Entomology 59: 117–286.
- Carpenter FM (1936) Revision of the Nearctic Raphidiodea (recent and fossil). Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences 71: 89–157. https://doi.org/10.2307/20023217
- Contreras-Ramos A (1998) Systematics of the dobsonfly genus *Corydalus* (Megaloptera, Corydalidae). Thomas Say Publications in Entomology: Monographs. Entomological Society of America, Lanham, Maryland, 360 pp.
- Enderlein G (1910) Klassifikation der Mantispiden nach dem material des Stettiner Zoologischen Museums. Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung 71: 341–379.
- Enderlein G (1930) Die Klassifikation der Coniopterygiden auf Grund der recenten und fossilen Gattungen. Archiv für Klassifikatorische und Phylogenetische Entomologie 1: 98–114.
- Engel MS, Winterton SL, Breitkreuz LCV (2018) Phylogeny and evolution of Neuropterida: where have wings of lace taken us? Annual Review of Entomology 63: 531–551. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-020117-043127
- Esben-Petersen P (1922) New species of Neuroptera in the British Museum [I]. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (9)10: 617–621. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222932208632817
- Esben-Petersen P (1927) New and little-known species of Neuroptera in British collections. Part III. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (9)20: 343–350. https://doi. org/10.1080/00222932708655460
- Fraser FC (1922) Some oriental Ascalaphidae in the Indian Museum. Records of the Indian Museum, Calcutta 24: 511–520.
- Fraser FC (1950) Contribution a l'étude de l'Aïr (Mission L. Chopard et A. Villiers). Odonata and Neuroptera. Mémoires de l'Institut français d'Afrique noire 10: 108–126.
- Gerstaecker A (1884) [1885] Vier Decaden von Neuropteren aus der Familie Megaloptera Burm. Mitteilungen aus dem Naturwissenschaftlichen Verein für Neu-Vorpommern und Rugen 16: 1–49.

- Gerstaecker A (1887) [1888] Weitere Beiträge zur Artenkenntniss der Neuroptera Megaloptera. Mitteilungen aus dem Naturwissenschaftlichen Verein für Neu-Vorpommern und Rugen 19: 89–130.
- Ghosh SK (1988) Contribution to the taxonomical studies of Neuroptera (suborder Planipennia) from eastern India. II. Family Ascalaphidae. Records of the Zoological Survey of India 85: 163–191.
- Ghosh SK (2000) Neuroptera fauna of north-east India. Records of the Zoological Survey of India, Miscellaneous Publications, Occasional Paper 184: 1–179.
- Ghosh SK, Sen S (1977) Check-list of Indian Planipennia (Order Neuroptera). Records of the Zoological Survey of India 73: 277–326.
- Guilding L (1825) [1823] The natural history of *Phasma cornutum*, and the description of a new species of *Ascalaphus*. Transactions of the Linnean Society of London 14: 137–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1823.tb00085.x
- Hagen HA (1859) Beitrag zur Kenntniss der Neuropteren. Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung 20: 405–412.
- Hagen HA (1861) Synopsis of the Neuroptera of North America, with a list of the South American species. Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections 4(1): 1–347. https://doi.org/10.5962/ bhl.title.60275
- Hagen HA (1866) Hemerobidarum Synopsis synonymica. Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung 27: 369–462.
- Hagen HA (1877) Symphrasis, eine neue Mantispiden-Gattung. Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung 38: 208–211.
- Handschin E (1959) Beiträge zu einer Revision der Mantispiden (Neuroptera). I Teil. Mantispiden des Musee Royal du Congo Belge, Tervuren. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 59: 185–227.
- Handschin E (1960a) Beiträge zu einer Revision der Mantispiden (Neuroptera). II Teil. Mantispiden des "Musée Royal du Congo Belge", Tervuren. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 62: 181–245.
- Handschin E (1960b) Zur Revision süd-amerikanischer Mantispiden. Revue Suisse de Zoologie 67: 523–560. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.part.75281
- Handschin E (1961) Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Gattungen *Euclimacia, Climaciella* und *Entanoneura* Enderlein 1910 im indo-australischen Faunengebiet. Nova Guinea, Zoology 15: 253–301.
- Henry CS (1982) Neuroptera. In: Parker SP (Ed.) Synopsis and Classification of Living Organisms, Vol. 2, McGraw-Hill, New York, 470–482.
- Hölzel H (1975) Revision der Netzflügler-Unterfamilie Crocinae (Neuroptera: Nemopteridae). Entomologica Germanica 2: 44–97.
- Hölzel H, Ohm P (1991) Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Chrysopidae von Somalia (Neuroptera, Chrysopidae). Entomofauna 12: 49–70.
- Insom E, Carfi S (1988) [1989] Taxonomic studies on Palparini (sensu Markl, 1954). I: The genus *Palpares* Rambur, 1842 partim (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae) with the proposal of its division and description of new genera. Neuroptera International 5: 57–78.
- Killington FJ (1933) A new species of *Boriomyia* (Neur., Hemerobiidae) from France. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 69: 57–59.

- Killington FJ (1936–1937) A monograph of the British Neuroptera. 2 Vols. Ray Society, London, [v. 1:] 269 pp, [v. 2:] 306 pp.
- Kimmins DE (1939) The Australian species of the genus Acanthaclisis Rambur (Neuroptera, Myrmeleonidae). Annals and Magazine of Natural History (11)3: 584–591. https://doi.or g/10.1080/03745481.1939.9723638
- Kimmins DE (1948) Notes on the genus *Protohermes* Weele (Megaloptera), with descriptions of two new species. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (12)1: 765–781. https://doi. org/10.1080/00222934808653946
- Kimmins DE (1970) A list of the type-specimens of Plecoptera and Megaloptera in the British Museum (Natural History). Bulletin of the British Museum of Natural History, Entomology 24: 335–361.
- Kirby WF (1900) Notes on the neuropterous family Nemopteridae. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (7)6: 456–464. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222930008678407
- Kis B, Nagler C, Mândru C (1970) Insecta: Neuroptera (Planipennia). Fauna Republicii Socialiste România 8(6): 1–345.
- Lambkin KJ (1986a) A revision of the Australian Mantispidae (Insecta: Neuroptera) with a contribution to the classification of the family. I. General and Drepanicinae. Australian Journal of Zoology, Supplementary Series 116: 1–142.
- Lambkin KJ (1986b) A revision of the Australian Mantispidae (Insecta: Neuroptera) with a contribution to the classification of the family. II. Calomantispinae and Mantispinae. Australian Journal of Zoology, Supplementary Series 117: 1–113.
- Latreille PA (1802) Histoire naturelle, générale et párticulière des Crustacés et des Insectes. Vol.3. Familles naturelles des genres. F. Dufart, Paris, 284–299.
- Latreille PA (1805) Histoire naturelle, générale et párticuliere, des Crustaces et des Insectes. Vol. 13. F. Dufart, Paris, 22–45.
- Latreille PA (1807) Genera crustaceorum et insectorum secundum ordinem naturalem in familias disposita, iconibus exemplisque plurimis explicata. Vol. 3. Parisiis and Argentorati, 258 pp.
- Lefèbvre A (1842) G. Ascalaphe. *Ascalaphus*. Fabricius. vel Azesia. A Lefèbvre. Magasin de Zoologie, d'Anatomie Comparée et de Palaeontologie (Guérin-Méneville) 4 (text to plate 92): 1–10.
- Leraut P (1980) [1981] Liste des Planipennes de France [Neuroptera]. Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France 85: 237–253.
- Lichtenstein AAH (1796) Catalogus musei Zoologici ditissimi Hamburgi, d. III. Februar 1796. Auctionis lege distrahendi. Sectio Tertia, continens Insecta. Verzeichnis von höchstseltenen, aus allen Welttheilen mit vieler Mühe und Kosten zusammen gebrachten, auch aus unterschiedlichen Cabinettern, Sammlungen und Auctionen ausgehobenen Naturalien, welche von einem Liebhaber, als Mitglied der Batavischen und verschiedener anderer Naturforschender Gesellschaften gesammlet worden. Dritter Abschnitt, bestehend in wohlerhaltenen, mehrentheils ausländischen und höchstseltenen Insecten, die theils einzeln, theils mehrere zusammen in Schachteln festgesteckt sind, und welche am Mittewochen, den 3ten Februar 1796 und den folgenden Tagen auf dem Eimbeckschen Hause öffentlich verkauft werden sollen durch den Mackler Peter Hinrich Packischefsky. Gottl. Friedr. Schniebes, Hamburg, [xiii] + 222 pp.

- Linnaeus C (1758) Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Editio decima, reformata [10<sup>th</sup> Edition]. Tomus I [Vol. 1]. Laurentii Salvii, Holmiae, 824 pp.
- Liu Xing Yue, Yang Ding (2006) Revision of the *Protohermes* species from Tibet, China (Megaloptera: Corydalidae). Zootaxa 1199: 49–60.
- Liu Xing Yue, Hayashi F, Yang Ding (2010) Revision of the fishfly genus *Neochauliodes* van der Weele (Megaloptera: Corydalidae) from India and adjacent regions of South Asia. Zootaxa 2692: 33–50. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2692.1.2
- Mansell MW (1987) The ant-lions of southern Africa (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae): genus Cymothales Gerstaecker, including extralimital species. Systematic Entomology 12: 181– 219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3113.1987.tb00195.x
- Mansell MW (1996) The antlions of southern Africa (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae): genus *Palparellus* Navás, including extralimital species. African Entomology 4: 239–267.
- Mansell MW (2000) Neuroptera (Insecta). In: Kirk-Spriggs AH, Marais M (Eds) Dâures-biodiversity of the Brandenberg Massif, Namibia. Cimbebasia Memoir 9: 163–176.
- McLachlan R (1867) A new species of *Coniopteryx* from Australia. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 4: 150–151.
- McLachlan R (1868a) A monograph of the British Neuroptera-Planipennia. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 16: 145–224. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1868.tb00622.x
- McLachlan R (1868b) [1867] New genera and species, &c., of neuropterous insects; and a revision of Mr. F. Walker's British Museum Catalogue of Neuroptera, part ii. (1853), as far as the end of the genus *Myrmeleon*. Journal of the Linnean Society of London, Zoology 9: 230–281. [Errata: 9: 281]
- McLachlan R (1869) Considerations on the neuropterous genus *Chauliodes* and its allies; with notes and descriptions. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (4)4: 35–46. https://doi. org/10.1080/00222936908695994
- McLachlan R (1873a) [1871] An attempt towards a systematic classification of the family Ascalaphidae. Journal of the Linnean Society of London, Zoology 11: 219–276.
- McLachlan R (1873b) Notes sur les Myrméléonides décrits par M. le Dr. Rambur. Annales de la Société Entomologique de Belgique 16: 127–141. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.part.22122
- McLachlan R (1882) The Neuroptera of Madeira and the Canary Islands. Journal of the Linnean Society of London, Zoology 16: 149–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1882. tb02279.x
- McLachlan R (1885) On the discovery of a species of the neuropterous family Nemopteridae in South America, with general considerations regarding the family. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 33: 375–379. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1885.tb00892.x
- McLachlan R (1891) Descriptions of new species of holophthalmous Ascalaphidae. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 39: 509–515. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1891.tb01660.x
- McLachlan R (1900) A remarkable new mimetic species of *Mantispa* from Borneo. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 36: 127–129.

- Meinander M (1972) A revision of the family Coniopterygidae (Planipennia). Acta Zoologica Fennica 136: 1–357.
- Miller RB, Stange LA (2012) The cave mouth antlions of Australia (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). Insecta Mundi 250: 1–65.
- Monserrat VJ (2008) Nuevos datos sobre algunas especies de Nemopteridae y Crocidae (Insecta: Neuroptera). *Heteropterus*. Revista de Entomología 8 :1–33.
- Navás L (1910) Monografía de los Nemoptéridos (Insectos Neurópteros). Memorias de la Real Academia de Ciencias y Artes de Barcelona (3)8: 341–408.
- Navás L (1912a) Sinopsis de los Ascaláfidos (Ins. Neur.). Arxius de l'Institut de Ciències, Institut d'Estudis Catalans, Secció de Ciències 1: 45–143.
- Navás L (1912b) Crisópidos y Hemeróbidos (Ins. Neur.) nuevos ó críticos. Brotéria (Zoológica) 10: 98–113.
- Navás L (1913a) Mis excursiones por el extranjero en el verano de 1912 (25 julio 16 septiembre). Memorias de la Real Academia de Ciencias y Artes de Barcelona (3)10: 479–514.
- Navás L (1913b) Névroptères nouveaux du Zambèse. Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles 37(pt. 1): 87–93.
- Navás L (1914a) Neurópteros nuevos o poco conocidos (Segunda [II] serie). Memorias de la Real Academia de Ciencias y Artes de Barcelona (3)11: 105–119.
- Navás L (1914b) Neurópteros nuevos o poco conocidos (Tercera [III] serie). Memorias de la Real Academia de Ciencias y Artes de Barcelona (3)11: 193–215.
- Navás L (1914c) Algunos Neurópteros del Museo de Oxford. I serie. Boletín de la Sociedad Aragonesa de Ciencias Naturales 13: 61–68.
- Navás L (1914d) Voyage de Ch. Alluaud et R. Jeannel en Afrique Orientale (1911–1912). Résultats scientifiques. Insectes Névroptères. I. Planipennia et Mecoptera. Paris, 52 pp.
- Navás L (1915a) Crisòpids d'Europa (Ins. Neur.). Arxius de l'Institut de Ciències, Institut d'Estudis Catalans, Secció de Ciències 3: 1–99.
- Navás L (1915b) Neuroptera nova africana. VI Series. Memorie dell'Accademia Pontifica dei Nuovi Lincei, Rome (2)1: 30–39.
- Navás L (1915c) Notes sur quelques Névroptères du Congo Belge. III. Revue de Zoologie Africaines, Bruxelles 4: 172–182.
- Navás L (1917) [1918] Monografia de l'ordre dels Rafidiòpters (Ins.). Arxius de l'Institut de Ciències, Institut d'Estudis Catalans, Secció de Ciències 5: 1–88.
- Needham JG (1909) Notes on the Neuroptera in the collection of the Indian Museum. Records of the Indian Museum, Calcutta 3: 185–210.
- New TR (1985) A revision of the Australian Myrmeleontidae (Insecta: Neuroptera). II. Dendroleontini. Australian Journal of Zoology, Supplementary Series 105: 1–170. https://doi. org/10.1071/AJZS106
- New TR (1996) Neuroptera. In: Wells A (Ed.) Zoological Catalogue of Australia. Vol. 28. Neuroptera, Strepsiptera, Mecoptera, Siphonaptera. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne, 230 pp.
- Ohl M, in collaboration with Oswald JD (2004) Annotated catalog of the Mantispidae of the World (Neuroptera). Contributions on Entomology, International 5: 131–262.
- Oswald JD (1993) Revision and cladistic analysis of the world genera of the family Hemerobiidae (Insecta: Neuroptera). Journal of the New York Entomological Society 101: 143–299.

- Oswald JD (2018) Neuropterida Species of the World. http://lacewing.tamu.edu/SpeciesCatalog/Main. [Last accessed on 27.ix.2018]
- Oswald JD, Penny ND (1991) Genus-group names of the Neuroptera, Megaloptera and Raphidioptera of the world. Occasional Papers of the California Academy of Sciences 147: 1–94. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.part.3428
- Penny ND (1977) [1978] Lista de Megaloptera, Neuroptera e Raphidioptera do México, América Central, ilhas Caraíbas e América do Sul. Acta Amazonica 7(4) (Suplemento): 1–61.
- Penny ND (1981a) [1982] Review of the generic level classification of the New World Ascalaphidae (Neuroptera). Acta Amazonica 11: 391–406. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-43921981112391
- Penny ND (1981b) [1982] Neuroptera of the Amazon Basin. Part 3. Ascalaphidae. Acta Amazonica 11: 605–651. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-43921981113651
- Penny ND (1982a) Review of the generic level classification of the New World Mantispidae (Neuroptera). Acta Amazonica 12: 209–223. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-43921982121209
- Penny ND (1982b) [1983] Neuroptera of the Amazon Basin. Part 6. Mantispidae. Acta Amazonica 12: 415–463. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-43921982122415
- Penny ND, da Costa CA (1983) [1985] Mantispídeos do Brasil (Neuroptera: Mantispidae). Acta Amazonica 13: 601–687. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-439219831334601
- Penny ND, Adams PA, Stange LA (1997) Species catalog of the Neuroptera, Megaloptera, and Raphidioptera of America North of Mexico. Proceedings of the California Academy of Sciences (4) 50: 39–114.
- Prost A (1995) Révision des Palparinae d'Afrique de l'Ouest (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae). Bulletin de la Société entomologique de France 100: 79–107.
- Prost A (1998) [1999] Les Acanthaclisinae d'Afrique occidentale et centrale [Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae]. Revue française d'Entomologie (N.S.) 20: 157–173.
- Rambur MP [JP] (1842) Histoire naturelle des insectes, névroptères. Librairie encyclopédique de Roret. Fain et Thunot, Paris, 534 pp.
- Schneider WG [as: GT] (1851) Symbolae ad monographiam generis Chrysopae, Leach. Sexaginta picturarum tabulis, in lapide acu delineatis, quarum quinquaginta quatuor coloribus impressae sunt, illustratae. Editio major. Ferdinandum Hirt, Vratislaviae, 178 pp. https:// doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.8500
- Shelford R (1902) [1903]. Observations on some mimetic insects and spiders from Borneo and Singapore, with appendices containing descriptions of new species by R. Shelford, Dr. Karl Jordan, C. J. Gahan, the Rev. H. S. Gorham, and Dr. A. Senna. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 1902 (vol. II): 230–284.
- Snyman LP, Ohl M, Mansell MW, Scholtz CH (2012) A revision and key to the genera of Afrotropical Mantispidae (Neuropterida, Neuroptera), with the description of a new genus. ZooKeys 184: 67–93. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.184.2489
- Snyman LP, Sole CL, Ohl M (2015) On Afromantispa and Mantispa (Insecta Neuroptera, Mantispidae): elucidating generic boundaries. ZooKeys 523: 89–97. https://doi.org/10.3897/ zookeys.523.6068
- Stange LA (1967) Catálogo de Neuroptera de Argentina y Uruguay. Acta Zoológica Lilloana 22: 5–87.

- Stange LA (2004) A systematic catalog, bibliography and classification of the world antlions (Insecta: Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). Memoirs of the American Entomological Institute 74: 1–565.
- Sziráki G (1998) An annotated checklist of the Ascalaphidae species known from Asia and from the Pacific Islands. Rovartani Közlemények [=Folia Entomologica Hungarica] (N.S.) 59: 57–72.
- Tauber CA (2017) Notes on two green lacewing (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae) types in the Hope Collections, Oxford University Museum of Natural History. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 153: 81–88.
- Tauber CA, Tauber MJ, Albuquerque GS (2002) Neuroptera. In: Resh VH, Cardé R (Eds) Encyclopedia of Insects, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam/San Diego, 785–798.
- Tjeder B (1952) Specimina typorum insectorum a Carolo Linnaeo descriptorum in Museo Degeeriano asservata. Pars III. Neuroptera. Entomologisk Tidskrift 73: 203–206.
- Tjeder B (1966) Neuroptera-Planipennia. The Lace-wings of Southern Africa. 5. Family Chrysopidae. In: Hanström B, Brinck P, Rudebec G (Eds) South African Animal Life. Vol. 12. Swedish Natural Science Research Council, Stockholm, 228–534.
- Tjeder B (1967) Neuroptera-Planipennia. The Lace-wings of Southern Africa. 6. Family Nemopteridae. In: Hanström B, Brinck P, Rudebec G (Eds) South African Animal Life. Vol. 13. Swedish Natural Science Research Council, Stockholm, 290–501.
- Tjeder B (1992) The Ascalaphidae of the Afrotropical Region (Neuroptera). 1. External morphology and bionomics of the family Ascalaphidae, and taxonomy of the subfamily Haplogleniinae including the tribes Proctolyrini n. tribe, Melambrotini n. tribe, Campylophlebini n. tribe, Tmesibasini n. tribe, Allocormodini n. tribe, and Ululomyiini n. tribe of Ascalaphidae. Entomologica Scandinavica, Supplement 41: 3–169.
- van der Weele HW (1907) Notizen über Sialiden und Beschreibung einiger neuen Arten. Notes from the Leyden Museum 28: 227–264.
- van der Weele HW (1908) [1909] Ascalaphiden. Collections Zoologiques du Baron Edm. de Sélys Longchamps: catalogue systématique et descriptif, Brussels, Fasc. 8: 1–326. [Figs on two plates]
- van der Weele HW (1909) New genera and species of Megaloptera Latr. Notes from the Leyden Museum 30: 249–264.
- van der Weele HW (1910) Megaloptera (Latreille). Monographic revision. Collections Zoologiques du Baron Edm. de Sélys Longchamps: catalogue systématique et descriptif, Brussels, Fasc. 5: 1–93. [Figs 1–40, on four plates]
- Villagomez F, Contreras-Ramos A (2017) First records of adult feeding in Megaloptera (Corydalidae, Corydalinae) from Mexico and their possible relationship with the increase in life span. Zootaxa 4341: 287–290. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4341.2.11
- Walker F (1853) List of the specimens of neuropterous insects in the collection of the British Museum. Part II – (Sialides--Nemopterides). British Museum, London, 193–476.
- Walker F (1860) Characters of undescribed Neuroptera in the collection of W. W. Saunders, Esq., F.R.S., etc. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 10(5): 176– 199. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1860.tb01844.x
- Westwood JO (1836) Note on three species of Nemoptera. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London (Proceedings) 1: 1–75.
- Westwood JO (1841) A monograph on the genus *Nematoptera*. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 9: 9–14.

- Westwood JO (1848) [1847] The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 88 pp.
- Westwood JO (1852) On the genus *Mantispa*, with descriptions of various new species. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 6: 252–270. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1852.tb02505.x
- Westwood JO (1867) Descriptions of new species of Mantispidae in the Oxford and British Museums. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 15: 501–508.
- Westwood JO (1874) Order Neuroptera. Thesaurus Entomologicus Oxoniensis; or, illustrations of new, rare, and interesting insects, for the most part contained in the collections presented to the University of Oxford by the Rev. F. W. Hope. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 177–179. [Plate 33]
- Williner GJ, Kormilev NA (1958) Notas sobre Mantispidae neotropicales, I (Neuroptera). Revista de la Sociedad Entomológica Argentina 21: 1–18.
- Winterton SL, Lemmon AR, Gillung JP, Garzon IJ, Badano D, Bakkes DK, Breitkreuz LCV, Engel MS, Lemmon EM, Liu X-y, Machado RJP, Skevington JH, Oswald JD (2018) Evolution of lacewings and allied orders using anchored phylogenomics (Neuroptera, Megaloptera, Raphidioptera). Systematic Entomology 43: 330–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/syen.12278
  Withycombe CL (1923) A new Egyptian nemopterid (Neuroptera). Entomologist 56: 141.
- Withycombe CL (1923–1924) Systematic notes on the Crocini (Nemopteridae), with descriptions of new genera and species. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 71: 269–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1923.tb03337.x
- Withycombe CL (1924) [1925] Some aspects of the biology and morphology of the Neuroptera. With special reference to the immature stages and their possible phylogenetic significance. Transactions of the [Royal] Entomological Society of London 72: 303–411. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1925.tb03362.x

## Appendix

With one exception, types of all the neuropteran species that were reported by Westwood (1848) [1847] in the Cabinet of Oriental Entomology are found in the OUMNH. The exception is *Ascalaphus canifrons* Westwood, 1847. Its types are in the NHMUK. Our notes follow.

#### canifrons Westwood, 1847 [Ascalaphus (Bubo)]

**Original description.** The Cabinet of Oriental Entomology; being a selection of the rarer and more beautiful species of insects, natives of India and the adjacent islands. The greater portion of which are now, for the first time, described and figured. Smith, London, 1848 [1847]: 69, fig. 3. "Inhabits the East Indies. In the Collection of W. W. Saunders, Esq.". Sexes and number of specimens not specified. **Type series.** The depository for the type(s) of this species was not reported in the original description. Moreover, we have found no reports of the species in the OUM-NH collection, and we did not find any specimens there. Thus, we assume that types of *A. canifrons* never were in the collection. There are several specimens of this species in the NHMUK collection; we confirmed one type (NHMUK010212098, sex undetermined).

**Current name.** Ascalaphodes canifrons (Westwood, 1847)

**Nomenclature.** Shortly after its original description, the species was referred to as *Bubo canifrons* (Westwood) [combination by Hagen (1866: 382)]. Later it was transferred to its current genus, *Ascalaphodes* [combination by McLachlan (1873a: 272)].